Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar da Universidade do Porto





Engineered siRNA-loaded nanocarriers for CCR5 targeting and silencing

Avelino Ferreira

Dissertation for the Master Degree in Bioengineering - Molecular Biotechnology

Supervisor: José das Neves, Ph.D. Co-supervisor: Bruno Sarmento, Ph.D.

September, 2018

© Avelino Ferreira, 2018

"Não tenhamos pressa,

mas não percamos tempo."

José Saramago

Abstract

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, the cause of acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), continues to be a worldwide health issue, since it is still a significant cause for mortality and morbidity all around the globe. While an effective and safe treatment is still searched for, prevention of the infection has gained a vital role in the combat against HIV/AIDS. Particularly, topical microbicides, for both vaginal and rectal use, have been the focus of intensive research. An approach that has attracted significant attention in this context is nanotechnology. Nanosystems, which allow the targeted delivery of compounds, might present themselves as extremely promising, as they would allow specific delivery to targets involved in early phases of HIV infection. This work aims at developing polymeric-based nanoparticles (NPs) capable of incorporating specific siRNAs targeting the C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5). Such nanosystems may pose as an innovative antiretroviral approach targeting HIV-susceptible cells that are typically involved in early viral transmission at the cervicovaginal and colorectal mucosae.

To establish the ability of a commercial siRNA to silence CCR5 expression, several transfections using different transfection agents were performed. When this siRNA was found not to properly reduce the levels of this receptor, a different commercial siRNA, with a distinct nucleotide sequence, was tested, and was able to knockdown in significant fashion CCR5 expression. Receptor expression levels were assessed by Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS). This siRNA, either by itself or pre-complexed with polyamines, was then incorporated in NPs, which were developed by using poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)-polyethylene glycol (PEG) copolymers and poloxamer 407 as a surfactant. NPs were produced by double emulsion solvent evaporation technique. NP size (mean hydrodynamic diameter) and surface charge (zeta potential) were determined using Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) and Electrophoretic Light Scattering (ELS), respectively. All NP formulations had average hydrodynamic diameter values between 120 nm and 180 nm and were relatively monodisperse (polydispersity index values below or close to 0.1). Zeta potential values ranging from -8 to -3 mV indicated that NPs presented nearly neutral surface charge.

Studies undertaken to assess the amount of siRNA present in each formulation, and the respective association efficiencies, through fluorescence revealed to be unsuccessful, considering the results obtained. However, a tendency of higher association for siRNA complexed with a polyamine could be observed.

Some NPs formulations demonstrated similar capability of delivering siRNA and silencing CCR5 when compared to commercial transfection agents. In fact, NPs associated with siRNA complexed with spermidine, one of the tested polyamines, lead to a significant decrease in the receptor levels compared to both untreated and treated with blank NPs cells.

In conclusion, siRNA-containing PLGA-PEG NPs were successfully produced and characterized for relevant physicochemical and biological properties. In particular, obtained data suggested that functionalized NPs present suitable general features for potential use in microbicide development. However, successful association of siRNA within the formulation was not demonstrated and additional studies are required. In spite of that, some of the developed formulations were capable of inducing a similar effect regarding CCR5 expression when compared to commercially available transfection agents.

Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to show appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. José das Neves, for having accepted me as a master student, for all the support, patience and guidance throughout this process. I am deeply thankful for all the bits of deep knowledge and experience that he passed to me, for the extremely valuable suggestions and for all the time he spent helping and teaching me how the world of research works.

I also want to thank my co-supervisor, Prof. Bruno Sarmento, for having accepted me in his team, for all the advice and support and for being a true example of professionalism and greatness.

To all my team colleagues, and ex-colleagues, in the *Nanomedicines & Translational Drug Delivery* group, thank you for your incredible help, company and friendship.

My sincere acknowledgements to i3S, FEUP and ICBAS for having accepted me in its laboratories and for all the facilities I used in my dissertation, as well as providing me with the opportunity to meet some amazing people.

To all my friends in MIB, for all the company, the laughter and the challenges we faced together and for making this five-year experience one of the best of my life.

To the inseparable people who successfully completed the challenge of living under the same roof as I for five years, thank you for the support in the worst times, the celebrations in the best, and for shaping me in ways I imagined not possible during this adventure.

Finally, to my parents and sister, thank you for all the unconditional support and guidance during these five years, for always believing in me and pushing me to my best.

Table of contents

Abstract	i
Acknowlegdments	iii
Table of contents	v
List of figures	vii
List of tables	ix
Abbreviations	xi
CHAPTER 1. Objective and Document Structure .	
1.1 Objective and rationale 1.2 Document Structure	1
CHAPTER 2. Literature Review	
2.1 Introduction	3
2.2 HIV infection and possible targets for prevention	5
2.3 shRNA vs siRNA vs miRNA	6
2.3.1 shRNA	6
2.3.2 siRNA	7
2.3.3 miRNA	7
2.4 siRNA approaches for the prevention of HIV infection	n8
2.4.1 Viral factors	8
2.4.2 Host factors	9
2.5 Delivery systems	
2.5.1 Viral vectors	
2.5.2 Non-viral vectors	11

CHAPTER 3. Materials and methods	13
3.1 Materials, reagents and cell lines	13
3.2 Production and characterization of nanoparticles	14
3.2.1 Production of nanoparticles	14
3.2.2 Nanoparticles characterization	15
3.3 Cell culture and maintenance	16
3.4 In vitro cell studies	16
3.4.1 Transfections	16
3.4.1.1 ScreenFect	17
3.4.1.2 Polyethylenimine (PEI)	17
3.4.1.3 RNAiMAX	18
3.4.1.3.1 siRNA (SCB)	18
3.4.1.3.2 siRNA (TFS)	18
3.4.2 Maraviroc and Antibody testing	18
3.4.3 NPs siRNA (TFS) delivery	19
3.5 Statistical analysis	19
CHAPTER 4. Results and Discussion	21
4.1 Ghost Hi-5 CCR5 expression	21
4.1.1 ScreenFect Enhancer transfection	22
4.1.2 Caco-2 cells and Maraviroc	24
4.1.3 Polyethylenimine (PEI)	26
4.1.4 RNAiMAX	28
4.1.5 siRNA (TFS)	32
4.2 Production and characterization of NPs	33
4.2.1 Size and surface charge	33
4.2.1.1 Surfactant	34
4.2.1.2 Low siRNA (SCB) concentration	34
4.2.1.3 High siRNA (TFS) concentration	35
4.2.2 siRNA content	36
4.2.2.1 Low siRNA (SCB) concentration	37
4.2.2.2 High siRNA (TFS) concentration	40
4.3 NPs siRNA (TFS) delivery to cultured cells	49
CHAPTER 5. Conclusions and Future Work	. 55
References	. 59
	-

List of figures

Figure 1.1 Structure of the PLGA-PEG polymer used in this work2
Figure 2.1 Several steps of the HIV-1 viral replication cycle and possible RNAi targets6
Figure 3.1 Schematic representation of the double emulsion solvent evaporation technique used for the production of polymeric nanoparticles
Figure 4.1 Representative population distribution and gates applied in FACS
Figure 4.2 Geometric mean fluorescence histograms
Figure 4.3 Quantitative expression of CCR5 by Ghost Hi-5 cells at different time points post transfection with ScreenFect Enhancer
Figure 4.4 CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 and Caco-2 cells
Figure 4.5 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells after MVC treatment
Figure 4.6 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with PEI at different ratios
Figure 4.7 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with PEI
Figure 4.8 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with RNAiMAX
Figure 4.9 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with RNAiMAX
Figure 4.10 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with RNAiMAX
Figure 4.11 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with RNAiMAX

Figure 4.12 Standard curves obtained correlating fluorescence measured and siRNA concentrations.	38
Figure 4.13 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post incubation with NPs.	50
Figure 4.14 Comparison of geometric mean fluorescence between histograms of samples (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded)	51
Figure 4.15 Comparison of geometric mean fluorescence between histograms of samples (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded)	52
Figure 4.16 Comparison of geometric mean fluorescence between histograms of samples (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded)	53
Figure 4.17 Comparison of geometric mean fluorescence between histograms of samples (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded)	53

List of tables

Table 3.1 Different conditions used during the production protocol of NPs
Table 4.1 Size, polydispersity index and zeta potential values for NP formulations
Table 4.2 Size, polydispersity index and zeta potential values for NP formulations 35
Table 4.3 Size, polydispersity index and zeta potential values for NP formulations
Table 4.4 Fluorescence values, obtained for each acquisition procedure and control, used to obtain standard curves. 37
Table 4.5 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan. 39
Table 4.6 siRNA concentrations (nM) calculated based on obtained fluorescence values. 39
Table 4.7 Association efficiencies (%) calculated based on obtained siRNA concentrations. 40
Table 4.8 Fluorescence values, obtained for each acquisition procedure and control, used to obtain standard curves. 41
Table 4.9 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan. 41
Table 4.10 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan. 42
Table 4.11 siRNA concentrations (nM) calculated based on obtained fluorescence values
Table 4.12 Association efficiencies (%) calculated based on obtained siRNA concentrations. 43
Table 4.13 Fluorescence values, obtained for each acquisition procedure and control, used to obtain standard curves. 44

Table 4.14 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan.	44
Table 4.15 siRNA concentrations (nM) calculated based on obtained fluorescence values	45
Table 4.16 Association efficiencies (%) calculated based on obtained siRNA concentrations.	45
Table 4.17 Fluorescence values, obtained for each acquisition procedure and control, used to obtain standard curves.	46
Table 4.18 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan.	47
Table 4.19 siRNA concentrations (nM) calculated based on obtained fluorescence values	48
Table 4.20 Association efficiencies (%) calculated based on obtained siRNA concentrations.	48

Abbreviations

List of abbreviations

AAV	Adeno-associated virus
AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
ANOVA	One-way analysis of variance
APC	Allophycocyanin
bNAbs	Broadly neutralizing antibodies
Cas9	CRISPR associated protein 9
CCR5	C-C chemokine receptor type 5
CD4	Cluster of differentiation 4
CD195	Cluster of differentiation 195
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats
CXCR4	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
DAPTA	D-ala-peptide T-amide
DLS	Dynamic Light Scattering
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsDNA	Double stranded DNA

EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
ELS	Electrophoretic Light Scattering
EMA	European Medicines Agency
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
FSC-A	Forward scatter area
FSC-H	Forward scatter height
gp120	Glycoprotein 120
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
miRNA	Micro RNA
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
MVC	Maraviroc
Mw	Molecular weight
MWCO	Molecular weight cut-off
NP	Nanoparticle
N/P	Nitrogen/Phosphate
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PdI	Polydispersity index
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PEI	Polyethylenimine
PLGA	Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)
PrEP	Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis
RISC	RNA-induced Silencing Complex
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
SD	Standard deviation
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA

- siRNA Small interference RNA
- SSC-A Side scatter area
- ssDNA Single stranded DNA
- UNAIDS Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS

CHAPTER 1

Objective and Document Structure

1.1 Objective and rationale

The objective of this work was to develop polymeric-based nanoparticles (NPs) capable of carrying and delivering small interference RNA (siRNA) targeting the C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5), a receptor involved in HIV entry into susceptible cells. Promising nanosystems emerging from this work are intended to be considered in the future as potential antiretroviral agents in the context of microbicide development.

For the purpose of this work, a poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)-polyethylene glycol (PEG) copolymer has been selected for the development of polymeric NPs. PLGA is a biocompatible and biodegradable polymer composed by of glycolic and lactic acid monomers linked by ester bonds [1]. It is approved by both the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) for use in drug delivery systems for parenteral administration, and has been widely explored in the design of NPs for drug delivery purposes in a wide range of biomedical applications [2]. PLGA has also been proposed for the development of nanotechnology-based microbicides [3]. PEG is also a extensively used polymer (i.e., decreased uptake by the reticuloendothelial system) and non-immunogenic properties to nanosystems [4]. This polymer has further been proposed for densely coating microbicide nanosystems, providing these the ability to reduce interactions with mucins and favor their distribution and transport across mucus [5], as well as the ability to avoid liposomal uptake. For these reasons, PLGA-PEG copolymer (**Figure 1.1**) has been chosen as the building block for the polymeric NPs developed herein.



Figure 1.1 Structure of the PLGA-PEG polymer used in this work.

Regarding the ability to silence CCR5 expression, there are several siRNAs, that differ in the nucleotide sequence, commercially available. One of the strategies that has been used to increase the association efficiency between siRNAs and polymeric nanoparticles is the pre-complexation of the nucleic acid with different polyamines [6]. Two of those, spermidine and putrescine, were selected to improve the association of siRNA within the PLGA-PEG NPs in this work.

Specific aims of the work included the screening of several siRNAs with different transfection agents, in order to compare the ability of commercialized transfection agents and the produced PLGA-PEG NPs to deliver the siRNA and, ultimately, silence CCR5 expression.

1.2 Document Structure

This dissertation is organized in five chapters. Chapter 1 explores the rationale behind the present work and delineates its main objective. In Chapter 2, the most relevant literature is revised, describing the state of the art of research involving RNAi approaches for HIV prevention, particularly focusing on delivery systems. Chapter 3 is dedicated to the description of materials, experiments and methodologies used, while Chapter 4 presents the results and their critical and concise analysis. Finally, the main findings of this work are summarized and prospects for future studies are presented in the final chapter.

CHAPTER 2

Literature Review

2.1 Introduction

Acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), consequence of the infection by human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), is still one of the biggest healthcare issues worldwide, being estimated that more than 35 million people are infected. Incidence wise, close to 2 million people were infected during 2017 alone [7]. For both these statistics, more than two thirds of the cases were registered in Africa, particularly sub-Saharan countries [7], a region known for its countries', except South Africa, generally extreme poverty. The major route of HIV propagation, responsible for about 80% of the total number of infections, is sexual transmission [8]. Several and diverse approaches to treat this infection have been idealized and tested. One of the major strategies consists of antiretroviral therapy, that, despite significantly improving HIV infected patients' life quality and expectancy [9, 10] and preventing new infections [11], presents some shortcomings related with side effects of used drugs, namely cognitive impairment, due to neural toxicity [12], immune and renal dysfunction [13] and neural toxicity [14]. Thus, a highly effective and safe therapeutic option is still at large. Regarding infection prevention, a wide range of measures, such as condom usage, male circumcision and oral preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP), have been proven to greatly reduce the risk of sexual transmission [15]. However, each of these presents limiting factors. Condom usage is still associated with social stigma, and religious and moral beliefs also hinder its usage, particularly in less developed countries [16]. The main drawback regarding male circumcision is related to the fact that it is not clear that the protective effect is extended to sexual partners [17, 18]. Finally, lack of adherence to the regimens, as well as kidney and liver damage, represent the major handicaps of oral PrEP [19]. These do not allow the mentioned approaches to be fully effective, leading to a decrease in newly infected people slower than desired. Thus, development of new approaches is fundamental in order to better tackle this issue.

Chapter 2. Literature Review

Alongside oral PrEP, topical approaches encompassing the use of microbicides have been developed and tested for blocking the virus transmission at rectal or vaginal mucosae [20, 21]. The first microbicides to be developed consisted of vaginal gels based on compounds that had shown activity against the virus in vitro. One category of those are surfactants, substances that disrupt viral membranes in non-specific fashion. While several surfactants have shown promising results, not a single one achieved overall positive outcomes, having failed at some point during clinical trials [22-25]. Several other strategies were followed, aiming at one of two outcomes, either blocking the viral entry in the host cells or targeting viral factors, preventing the virus from replicating and spreading the infection. Regarding the former, the most notable drug developed was maraviroc, a blocker of CCR5, one of the co-receptors used by the virus to enter the cells. Despite indications that this compound effectively blocked viral entry in CCR5 positive cells [26, 27], the concentration of maraviroc observed in macaques was not high enough to offer protection during a limited period of time [28, 29]. On the other hand, dapivirine [30-32] and tenofovir [33, 34] also found great success being administered as antiretroviral drugs. A different approach that has also been receiving wide consideration is the use of antibodies, mostly broadly neutralizing antibodies (bNAbs), in order to prevent the infection [35, 36]. Particularly, antibodies targeting the viral envelope, especially the gp120 protein have been extensively researched [37, 38]. Despite promising results, the HIV ability to deeply and quickly mutate, which can lead to viral escape, is still a major hurdle to overcome regarding this approach [39].

Thus, despite relative success, several limiting factors have hampered the achievement of greater outcomes. Some of these include the difficulty in scaling-up production, stability under different environmental conditions and safety [40]. Moreover, since the greatest challenge regarding AIDS eradication concerns sub-Saharan Africa, low cost of manufacture and ease of use are also essential conditions.

Following this direction, nanotechnology-based microbicides have been gaining interest recently [3]. Nanoparticles' properties, such as their size, large surface area and ease of functionalization make them a very promising approach for a wide range of biomedical fields, including HIV prevention [41]. While being developed to use alongside with more traditional antiretroviral drugs and monoclonal antibodies, nano-microbicides allow the exploration of alternative approaches. In particular, the use of gene editing and silencing is a strategy that has been receiving a lot of focus [42-44].

DNA editing approaches face a major obstacle: it may not be appropriate for use in healthy individuals. There are, although, promising approaches, such as the use of the CRISPR/Cas9 technology [45, 46]. On the other hand, gene silencing can also be attained by RNA interference (RNAi), a biological process that is triggered by short double-stranded RNA sequences, and which can be considered one of the most recent approaches for preventing HIV infections [47-49]. This effect can be induced either by endogenous small RNAs, named microRNAs (miRNAs),

by chemically synthetized exogenous small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) or by vector based short hairpin RNAs (shRNA). Despite their variable origin, the mechanism of action is similar. One of the strands is degraded upon binding to the RNA induced silencing complex (RISC), while the other strand leads the complex to degrade the corresponding mRNA [50]. Each of these approaches for gene silencing has its advantages and drawbacks, that will be latter further explored. It is broadly accepted that RNAi is an extremely attractive strategy to further research regarding HIV prevention. While several RNAi approaches regarding HIV have been showing positive indications, successful delivery is still one of the major obstacles [51-53]. Nanocarriers present the potential to surpass this hurdle, hence being a major focus of attention for RNAi delivery. Overall, it is vital that these strategies improve safety and efficacy profiles, and, when used to target viral moieties, are able to overcome the high mutability presented by HIV, since it is the major hurdle regarding the prevention of this infection.

2.2 HIV infection and possible targets for prevention

HIV infection and replication cycle are well established (Figure 2.1). This virus infects different cells of the immune system, mainly CD4-expressing T lymphocytes, monocytes and macrophages, but also dendritic cells. To do so, the virus fuses its viral envelope with the cell membrane [54]. The host receptor essential for this fusion to happen is CD4, which binds with high affinity to gp120, a family of glycoproteins existent on the HIV viral envelope. As consequence of this binding, gp120 suffers a conformational change, freeing a site that binds to a host co-receptor at the outer cell membrane. In the majority of the cases, this co-receptor is either CXCR4 or CCR5, being the latter overwhelmingly used by the virus in the infection initial phase [54]. After internalization of its core content, and using its own reverse transcriptase, the viral RNA is converted into double stranded DNA, which is then transported to the nucleus and incorporated in the genome by viral integrases. The expression of the viral DNA results in mRNAs that can be differently spliced, resulting in over 40 different mRNA species. Double-spliced fragments encode the proteins Tat, Nef and Rev [55]. This last one will accumulate, facilitating and mediating the nuclear export of the unspliced fragment, that encodes the Gag and Gag-Pol proteins, and the single-spliced fragments, which express Vif, Vpr, and Env proteins [56]. Inhibiting one or more of these viral proteins is a potential preventive approach that has been explored and will be further discussed. Moreover, since endogenous machinery is subverted and used for these processes, host factors are also an attractive preventive target, particularly during the earlier stages of infection.

One of the main characteristics that make HIV such an elusive virus is its ability to mutate itself, dodging host defense mechanisms. The first occurrence of this genetic plasticity is shown in the viral envelope, a structure that constantly changes and promotes direct consequences

regarding viral tropism, and preference to either one of the mentioned co-receptors. For instance, both in the early and chronic stages of the infection, CCR5-using viruses are dominant [54].



Figure 2.1 Several steps of the HIV-1 viral replication cycle and possible RNAi targets. Adapted from [47], Copyright © Bobbin et al.; licensee BioMed Central. 2015.

2.3 shRNA vs siRNA vs miRNA

RNAi is a mechanism that can be induced both endogenously and exogenously. In the first case, miRNAs are produced by the cell with the purpose of binding to mRNAs, making it possible to control several cellular processes through translational repression of the referred mRNA. In order to do so, the miRNA binds to a protein complex, RISC, that mediates the process [57]. The existence of this RNAi machinery turned out to be a very attractive target for specific gene silencing. There are two different strategies to achieve this, each with its advantages and drawbacks.

2.3.1 shRNA

For shRNA to be internalized by the cell, a non-replicating viral vector is commonly used. This allows an easier delivery of the shRNA into the nucleus, leading to its incorporation in the host genome, which, by its turn, leads to a stable integration and long-term expression of the incorporated nucleic acid [58]. Since shRNAs are designed to be processed as closely as possible

to the endogenous miRNAs [50], it is possible that it leads to toxicity, by competing with those host miRNAs and saturating the RNAi machinery [59]. One strategy to avoid this is the use of miRNA-based vectors for shRNA expression [60]. Beyond improving safety, this approach does not just increase the shRNA expression, as it allows the expression of multiples shRNAs from the same mRNA backbone. Since one of the major issues regarding HIV prevention is the ability of the virus to mutate and escape targeted therapies, this represents a major breakthrough [59]. Another advantage relies on the fact that traditional constructs require the integration of more than one copy in the host genome, while miRNA-based constructs can silence a gene with a single copy [61]. One of the biggest disadvantages of this technology resides in the fact that chemical modification of the shRNA is incredibly limited [50]. Moreover, targeting multiple sequences, while feasible, is slow and expensive. Since this approach has as goal the incorporation in the genome, long term safety and control might also be potential issues [57].

2.3.2 siRNA

For short term gene knockdown, i.e., transient RNAi effect, siRNA transfection is a more attractive approach. The better understanding of the endogenous RNAi pathway allows improved rational for the design of synthetic siRNAs. Because of its synthetic origin, it is possible to extensively modify its chemical properties in order to modulate its specificity and stability [57]. Effective delivery methods are essential for the development of this technology, since siRNA is negatively charged and susceptible to endogenous nucleases. Delivery approaches that might help surpass this problem will be discussed further on.

2.3.3 miRNA

While sharing several similarities with siRNAs, miRNAs differ in a significant aspect. While siRNAs possess a high specificity for its target, by aiming to silencing only one gene, miRNAs have the ability of targeting multiple genes [62, 63]. The complexity inherent to this multiplicity of targets, lead, immediately after the discovery of these mechanisms, to a stronger focus of research on siRNAs rather than miRNAs. However, with the recent attention given to miRNAs in research concerning RNAi pathways, significant advancements can be expected [62].

Besides endogenous miRNA, several viruses also produce their own miRNA, being actively involved in the major virus processes, such as replication and survival [63, 64]. However, regarding HIV, there is controversy regarding its ability to produce miRNAs [65]. RNA viruses are generally regarded as not producing miRNA [66], mainly because they are not located in the nucleus, thus not having access to the necessary machinery [67]. Nevertheless, HIV, being

a retrovirus, has its RNA transcribed into double stranded DNA, which is incorporated in the genome, providing the virus with access to nuclear machinery involved in miRNA pathways. Assuming that HIV does indeed produce miRNAs, it can represent an attractive target to prevent the infection, by subverting the viral machinery, in a similar fashion to what the virus does with the host machinery.

2.4 siRNA approaches for the prevention of HIV infection

As mentioned above, siRNA approaches may target both viral and host factors that play a role in HIV infection.

2.4.1 Viral factors

Since the life cycle of HIV is well known, there are several factors that can be targeted and inhibited in order to prevent the infection. Moreover, the fact that viral proteins are produced from a single mRNA, that is later cleaved, allows for the targeting of any region of the full-length mRNA as an approach to prevent the infection. Several viral mRNAs have been targeted in order to achieve that.

One of those is *tat*, a transcript that encodes a protein that is responsible for the regulation of viral gene expression, by stimulating transcriptional elongation [68]. Interestingly, it has been reported that the protein Tat is also responsible for suppressing a virus-specific siRNA precursor coded by HIV itself [69]. This viral factor is, therefore, a very appealing target. *Tat* transcript has been silenced by different siRNAs, using mostly lentiviral-based vectors as a delivery method [70-72].

Other potential targets for siRNA are the *env* regions of the viral genome. The protein encoded by this mRNA, Env, plays a major role in the attachment of HIV to target cells, as well as in the membranes fusion process [73]. It has been shown that siRNA successfully targeting and silencing these genes leads to the inhibition of HIV replication in peripheral blood mononuclear cells [74]. One of the systems targeting this gene uses a lentiviral vector as a delivery system [75].

The *gag* gene encodes a polyprotein that is cleaved into four different polypeptides, p17, p24, p7 and p6. The latter two are believed to be involved in the viral RNA binding, while p17 is a matrix protein and p24 a component of the capsid [76]. Is has been shown that targeting

the *gag* region of the viral genome leads to decrease in viral activity [77], including in CD4+ cells [78].

Unlike *gag*, *nef* is a non-structural gene. It is expressed before the virus integrates itself into the host genome [79]. It was demonstrated that *nef* inhibition by siRNA leads to a decrease in the expression of the viral transcript and confers some degree of resistance to HIV replication [80].

Yet another viral factor that might be a potential target for siRNA silencing is the gene *rev*. The expression of Rev protein leads to the cytoplasmic expression of the mRNA responsible for the expression of viral proteins previously mentioned, such as Gag and Env [81]. It has been shown that siRNA specifically targeting the *env* gene has the ability to substantially decrease viral activity in human cells [82].

While the mentioned are the HIV transcripts receiving more attention regarding siRNA approaches, there are other that have been targeted by siRNA, such as *pol* [83] or *vif* [71, 84].

2.4.2 Host factors

One of the major hurdles regarding the targeting of viral factors is the ability of HIV to mutate itself, which arises from the highly erroneous viral reverse transcriptase, and allows the virus to avoid silencing. Moreover, the silencing of viral structures is more promising regarding HIV treatment rather than prevention. Thus, targeting host factors, particularly those that are involved in pre-integration steps of the infection, seems like a very attractive alternative approach for HIV prevention.

The most obvious of these factors is CD4, since it is the receptor responsible for HIV recognition and binding to target cells. While it has been shown that silencing the expression of CD4 does indeed inhibit the HIV infection [85, 86], it is likely that, due to its particularly important role in immune processes, namely T CD4+ cells activation, the suppression of this receptor can lead to immunodeficiency [48].

One alternative that has been explored is the suppression of the co-receptor CXCR4. This is the co-receptor used by T cell tropic HIV strains [54]. It has been shown that siRNA targeting this protein leads to downregulation of CXCR4, as well as a lower level of transcripts, in both primary peripheral blood mononuclear and T cells [87], as well as Magi-CXCR4 cells [88]. Unlike CD4, CXCR4 depletion was found to not have a major impact in T cell maturation [89]. However, it has an important role in the trafficking of these cells, being pivotal for B cells, cardiovascular and cerebellar development [90]. Furthermore, this co-receptor is most notably used by viruses

in later stages of the infection rather than at transmission, making it less attractive from a prevention perspective [91].

The other co-receptor is CCR5, used by macrophage tropic strains of the virus [92], which is considered to be the most attractive target for RNAi approaches. One of the most, if not the most, important reasons for that is the related to a CCR5 mutation, known as CCR5 Δ 32. This mutation, discovered in 1996, consists in the deletion of 32 base pairs from the DNA sequence, leading to a frameshift at the amino acid level, and, consequently, rendering the co-receptor non-functional [93]. Since CCR5 is essential for HIV-1 entry in the cells, namely at sexual transmission, this mutation confers protection from viral infection. Thus, CCR5 may be regarded as the most attractive host target for HIV prevention, in particular through gene editing or silencing approaches. It has been shown, both *in vitro* [71, 94-96] and *in vivo* [97-100], that RNAi used in order to silence the expression of this co-receptor, particularly siRNAs, confers resistance to HIV-1 infection.

A slightly different approach that has been also pursued consists in targeting multiple factors, both viral and from the host [71, 85, 101]. While it seems promising and attractive, unintended effects of targeting host factors other than CCR5 and the high mutability evidenced by the virus might indicate that targeting CCR5 is a safer and more sustainable approach for HIV prevention through RNAi.

2.5 Delivery systems

In order for siRNA approaches to be effective, optimized delivery systems need to be developed. These can be separated in two major groups: viral and non-viral vectors.

2.5.1 Viral vectors

The initial approach to deliver nucleic acids in general, and siRNA in particular, was to use viral systems. These vectors are particularly attractive due to their high efficiency. However, concerns were quickly raised, mainly regarding safety hazards, such as immunogenic effects and the potential to trigger oncogenic responses [102]. Viral vectors can be further divided in different subsets, accordingly to which type of virus is used as a carrier.

One of the most explored groups of viruses for siRNA delivery has been lentivirus. These viruses have the ability to stably express siRNA or shRNA. Moreover, these vectors can transduce non-dividing cells, as they are able to target the nucleus. Furthermore, they are likely to be less immunogenic when compared with other viral vectors [103]. Adding the fact that have been used in several types of cells [84, 88, 104], the use of lentivirus can be regarded as one of the best approaches for viral delivery of siRNA.

Adenoviruses are also widely used regarding gene silencing. In most cases, when this type of viral vector is used, a double stranded DNA (dsDNA) construct is delivered into the cells, posteriorly expressing the correspondent siRNA [105-107]. The major distinctive factor when compared with lentiviruses is the fact that with the former, the siRNA is not integrated in the chromosomal DNA, limiting the use of this type of virus to situations where transient silencing is desired, or when the cells to transfect either replicate very slowly or are difficult to transfect [108]. On the other hand, with these vectors, insertional mutagenesis is not a concern, while high rates of transfection are achieved.

Similar to adenoviruses, adeno-associated viruses (AAV) are also used for transient transfections. However, there are three main differences between these two types of vectors. AAV have all of the viral genes removed, whereas some adenoviruses still express native genes, which leads to higher risk of immunogenic response. The other differences regard the packaging capacity, which is substantially higher in adenovirus, and the fact that AAV vectors are usually used for single stranded DNA (ssDNA) [107].

Retroviruses other than lentiviruses, commonly referred to as standard retroviruses, have also been used for attainment of RNAi regarding HIV infection. This type of vector has been shown to be able to successfully deliver shRNA, which is then processed into siRNA, to otherwise difficult to transfect cells [109, 110]. These viral vectors are often associated with immune responses, due to their integration. Overall, these retroviruses have been replaced by lentiviruses, due to higher efficiency and safety from the latter [111].

2.5.2 Non-viral vectors

While virus mediated delivery/induction of siRNA was relatively successful, the underlying potential of immunogenic and oncogenic triggers lead to a shift of research and development towards non-viral vectors [52].

This includes lipid-based delivery systems. The rationale behind these systems relies on the electrostatic interaction between the positively charged lipids and the negatively charged siRNA. Furthermore, the cationic nature of the complexes that are formed allows an easier cellular uptake of the siRNA [112]. Lipid-base delivery systems, such as liposomes, have been shown to successfully deliver siRNA to mucosal cells upon intravaginal administration [113], targeting both viral and host factors [114]. However, some lipid agents might show some level of toxicity themselves, possibly related to a boost, in dose-dependent fashion, of the viral infection. Macromolecules, such as cholesterol, have also been tested as a carrier for siRNA in the vaginal tract. While the issues observed with liposomes and other lipid-based systems were not registered, inconclusive and contrasting results regarding the protective effect of this formulation were observed [114, 115].

Chapter 2. Literature Review

Polymeric nanoparticles have also been studied for intravaginal delivery of siRNA [6, 115, 116]. The main advantages of such delivery systems rely on the ability to protect the siRNA from being degraded, to control the rate of siRNA release, to penetrate tissues and to allow targeted delivery [51]. While non-biodegradable polymers such as polystyrene have been studied [117], the most used polymer for this purpose is very likely poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) [6, 118, 119]. One of the most attractive properties of this polymer relies on its biodegradability, which does not only improve safety profiles, but also allows the release to be controlled and easily tuned. PLGA has been shown, both by itself [6] and in conjugation with other polymers [120], to effectively deliver siRNA when administered intravaginally. However, the anionic acid groups present in this polymer cause electrostatic repulsion when in the presence of siRNA phosphate groups. Furthermore, since siRNA has relatively low molecular weight and is hydrophilic, its association efficiency to PLGA nanoparticles is relatively low [121]. In order to circumvent this issue, pre-complexing siRNA with other molecules can be performed, in order to obtain complexes with high molecular weight and lower aqueous solubility, allowing for a more efficient association to nanoparticles [6, 122]. Another issue facing PLGA nanoparticles is the low ability of this system to penetrate the mucus layer, condition fundamental for siRNA delivery [123]. One approach widely used to increase mucuspenetrating properties of several carriers, from polymeric nanoparticles to lipid-based vehicles, is dense surface modification with polyethylene glycol (PEG) of relatively low molecular weight (typically 5-10 kDa) [121]. Using this polymer also brings the advantage of promoting lysosomal escape [124]. Polymeric nanoparticles seem, then, to be an attractive approach for topical siRNA delivery to prevent HIV infection by the vaginal and rectal routes.

Even though mild success has been obtained with traditional microbicides, such as the dapivirine ring and one tenofovir gel, the broader potential of gene silencing, namely concerning siRNA, makes it an interesting preventive avenue to pursue. Despite being extensively studied, and with relative success, delivery through viral vectors and targeting of viral factors raise some concerns regarding, respectively, safety and efficacy. Thus, a shift towards non-viral vectors and targets for gene silencing has been occurring. However, even if safety and efficacy are demonstrated, the development and successful attainment of these potential solutions still face serious challenges, such as the ease of scaling-up production and the final cost of the solutions.

CHAPTER 3

Materials and Methods

3.1 Materials, reagents and cell lines

Poly(ethylene glycol) methyl ether-block-poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA-PEG; 50:50 lactide:glycolide molar ratio; PLGA number average molecular weight (Mn) 55 kDa; PEG Mn 5 kDa) was purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Kolliphor® P407 was purchased from BASF (Ludwigshafen am Rhein, Germany). Ethyl acetate and dimethyl sulfoxide were obtained from Merck Millipore (Billerica, MA, USA). Two different CCR-5 specific siRNAs were purchased from either Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX, USA) (from now on siRNA (SCB)) or Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA) (siRNA (TFS)). A non-silencing siRNA was also obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. Nuclease-free water and Opti-MEM Reduced Serum Media were both purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific. ScreenFect Enhancer was purchased from ScreenFect GmbH (Eggenstein-Leopoldshafen, Germany). Polyethyleneimine (PEI, branched, M.W. 10,000, 99%) was obtained from Alfa Aesar (Haverhill, MA, USA). Lipofectamine RNAiMAX Transfection Reagent was acquired from Thermo Fisher Scientific. Allophycocyanin (APC)-labelled anti-CCR5 antibody [CD195 (CCR5) Monoclonal Antibody (NP-6G4), APC, eBioscience™] was obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Maraviroc was extracted and purified from Selzentry® tablets (ViiV Healthcare, Algés, Portugal) following a previously reported method [125]. Spermidine and putrescine were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. SYBR™ Gold Nucleic Acid Stain (10,000 X Concentrate in DMSO) was acquired from Invitrogen. Ghost (3) CCR5⁺ cells (Hi-5 cells; CCR5-expressing cells originated from human osteosarcoma) available from the NIH Aids Reagent Program were kindly provided by Prof. Nuno Taveira, iMed.ULisboa, University of Lisbon. Caco-2 (C2BBe1 clone) cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA). Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin-streptomycin and 0.25% (w/v) trypsin-0.53mM EDTA were purchased from Invitrogen. All solvents and reagents were of analytical grade or equivalent.

3.2 Production and characterization of nanoparticles

3.2.1 Production of nanoparticles

PLGA-PEG NPs were produced by a double emulsion solvent evaporation technique, as depicted in Figure 3.1. Briefly, 20 mg of copolymer were dissolved in 1 mL of ethyl acetate, and 250 µL of water (internal phase) were added and the mixture vortexed (VV3 vortex, from VWR (Radnor, PA, USA)) at full speed during 30 seconds in order to form a W/O primary emulsion. Then, 5 mL of either poloxamer 407 at 0.2% (w/v) or nuclease-free water was added, and the mixture was sonicated (VibraCell VC50, with stepped microtip (2mm), from Sonics & Materials (Newtown, CT, USA)) for 60 seconds, at 70% intensity, in order to form a W/O/W secondary emulsion. Finally, the multiple emulsion was further diluted with 10 mL of either poloxamer 407 at 0.2% (w/v) or nuclease-free water and left under magnetic stirring (300rpm) for 4 hours, in order to allow partial evaporation of ethyl acetate and formation of solid nanoparticles. Nanoparticles were then concentrated and washed three times with 10 mL of nuclease-free water by centrifugation at 2,100 rpm for 12 minutes (Eppendorf 5810R Refrigerated Centrifuge) using Amicon Ultra-15 Centrifugal Filter Units (Millipore) with a molecular weight cut-off (MWCO) of 100 kDa. The volume of nanoparticle suspensions was adjusted to 1.5-2 mL with nuclease-free water and kept at 2-8 °C until further use. To lyophilize the nanoparticles, the suspension was frozen at -80 °C for at least 4 hours. Frozen nanosuspensions were then freeze-dried at -80 °C and at pressure equal to or lower than 0.008mbar (FreeZone Plus 2.5 Liter Cascade Console, from Labconco (Kansas City, MO, USA)).



Figure 3.1 Schematic representation of the double emulsion solvent evaporation technique used for the production of polymeric nanoparticles. Please see main text for details.

When required, siRNA was incorporated into nanoparticles by pre-complexing it with either spermidine or putrescine, at a nitrogen/phosphate (N/P) ratio of either 8/1 or 3/1, and included in the inner aqueous phase before nanoparticle production. The amount of each polyamine to be used in order to achieve these ratios was calculated as previously described [6, 126]. For complexation, siRNA and the respective polyamine were diluted in nuclease-free water to a final volume of 125 μ L each. The diluted siRNA was then added to the diluted polyamine, and the mixture was incubated at room temperature for 20-25 minutes before proceeding with nanoparticle production.

Nanoparticles were produced using different compositions of the inner aqueous phase, as listed in **Table 3.1**.

Designation	Internal Phase	siRNA content (pmole)	N/P ratio	n
NPs w/o surfactant	Water	-	-	1
Blank NPs	Water	-	-	7
l-siRNA NPs	siRNA	200	-	1
h-siRNA NPs	siRNA	1000	-	5
l-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	Spermidine-siRNA complexes	200	8/1	1
Putrescine 8/1 NPs	Putrescine-siRNA complexes	200	8/1	1
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	Spermidine-siRNA complexes	1000	8/1	5
Spermidine 3/1 NPs	Spermidine-siRNA complexes	1000	3/1	3

Table 3.1 Different conditions used during the production protocol of NPs.

3.2.2 Nanoparticles characterization

Size (mean hydrodynamic diameter) and polydispersity index (PdI) of all NP formulations were determined by Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) using a Zetasizer Nano ZS instrument (Malvern Instruments, Malvern, UK). The same equipment was used for assessing zeta potential of NPs by Electrophoretic Light Scattering (ELS). All assays were performed after 100 times dilution of NP dispersions with 10 mM sodium chloride solution. Three runs per sample were performed.

In order to quantify siRNA content, the total mass of lyophilized NPs was dissolved in 1 mL of ethyl acetate at room temperature for 2 hours. To extract siRNA, 500 μ L of TE buffer (10mM

Tris containing 1 mM EDTA, at pH 7.4) were added to the previous, and the mixture was vortexed, at full speed, for 1 minute and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm and 4 °C for 5 minutes. This procedure was performed either once or twice, depending on the experiment. The aqueous fraction was retrieved, and siRNA content was assessed using SYBR[™] Gold Nucleic Acid Stain. A standard curve correlating fluorescence and siRNA concentration was used to determine the amount of siRNA loaded into the particles. Briefly, the retrieved aqueous phase was diluted tenfold and 0.02µL of SYBR Gold were added. The obtained mixture was equilibrated for 10 minutes before proceeding with fluorescence readings at excitation and emission wavelengths of 495 and 540 nm, respectively, using a Synergy Mx fluorimeter and according to the instructions of the SYBR[™] Gold Nucleic Acid Stain manufacturer.

3.3 Cell culture and maintenance

Ghost Hi-5 (passages 7-20) and Caco-2 clone cells (passages 78-80) were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum, and added with 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin (further referred as complete DMEM). Cells were kept in a cell culture incubator (Binder, Tuttlingen, Germany) at 37 °C and 5% CO2, under a water saturated atmosphere. Cells were sub-cultured every 3-4 days, using trypsin-EDTA as dissociation reagent.

3.4 In vitro cell studies

3.4.1 Transfections

Ghost Hi-5 cells were plated, unless otherwise stated, in 24-well plates at 1×10^5 at 24 hours before transfection. Two hours before transfection, medium was removed, and cells were washed twice with 500 µL of PBS (at pH 7.4). Plain medium (i.e., DMEM only) was added to each well. siRNA-transfection agent complexes were prepared by incubating different amounts of siRNA with several transfection agents (to be detailed further). The working solutions of siRNA and transfection agent were obtained by diluting stock solutions in Opti-MEM. Complexes, as well as the transfection agent alone, were added to cells to a final volume of 500µL. Cells were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO2. Six hours post transfection, medium was removed and 1mL of DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, but without antibiotics, in order to prevent cytotoxicity and improve the transfection. Cells were detached using 500 µL of trypsin-EDTA and 1 mL of complete DMEM. The resulting 1.5 mL was transferred to Eppendorf tubes. Cells were then centrifuged at 4 °C, 300 xg, for 7 min (Eppendorf 5417R Refrigerated Centrifuge), the supernatants were discarded, and cells were resuspended in 100 µL of FACS buffer (PBS

containing 10% (v/v) FBS and 0.1% (w/v) sodium azide). Five microliters (0.25 μ g) of the APClabelled anti-CCR5 antibody were added to selected tubes and all samples were incubated for 45 minutes at 37 °C. Then, cells were washed by centrifugation (300 xg, 4°C, 7 min), resuspended in 200 μ L of FACS buffer. This washing procedure was repeated up to a total of three washes, unless stated otherwise. Cells were then transferred to FACS tubes and immediately analyzed by FACS using a BD FACSCanto II instrument (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), equipped with three lasers: 405 nm, 488 nm and 633 nm. Upon excitation with the 633 nm laser, stained cells were detected through the APC channel. The results were analyzed using the FlowJo v10.0.7 software (FlowJo LLC, Ashland, OR, USA).

3.4.1.1 ScreenFect

Ghost Hi-5 cells were plated in 6-well plates at 5 x 10^5 cells/well at 24 hours before transfection. siRNA-transfection agent complexes were prepared by incubating different amounts of siRNA (1, 10 and 100 nM) with 4 µL of the transfection agent for 20 minutes at room temperature. A control non-silencing siRNA, at 100 nM, was also incubated with the same volume of transfection agent. Cells were collected 6, 12, 24 and 72 hours post-transfection. For this experiment, replicates were not performed. Moreover, only one step of washing, and not three, following antibody incubation was performed.

3.4.1.2 Polyethylenimine (PEI)

PEI transfection agent was prepared by diluting a viscous PEI solution in nuclease-free water to a concentration of 0.9 mg/mL, and posteriorly filtering through a 0.22 μ m filter. siRNA-transfection agent complexes were prepared by incubating the same amount of siRNA (25 nM) with two different amounts of PEI, in order to obtain different nitrogen per phosphate (N/P) ratios. N/P ratios of 30 and 40 were used, corresponding to 3 and 4 μ L, respectively, of the PEI solution. Posteriorly, different amounts of siRNA (25 and 50 nM) were complexed with PEI to obtain a N/P ratio of 40. siRNA-PEI complexes were obtained after 20 minutes of incubation at room temperature. In both experiments, a control siRNA was also incubated with the same volume of transfection agent. For the first experiment, all formulations were done in duplicates. For the latter, untreated and unstained cells were analyzed in duplicates, while the remaining conditions were performed in triplicates.

3.4.1.3 RNAiMAX

3.4.1.3.1 siRNA (SCB)

siRNA-transfection agent complexes were prepared by incubating varying amounts of siRNA with 1.5 μ L of the transfection agent. Three experiments where performed with this siRNA and transfection agent. In the first, siRNA was used at 25 and 50 nM, while in the second, the concentrations used were 25, 50 and 100 nM. Finally, in the third experiment, siRNA was used at 100 and 200 nM. A control non-silencing siRNA was used in each experiment, at the highest concentration used for siRNA (50,100 and 200 nM, respectively), with the same volume of transfection agent. The complexes were left to incubate for 20 minutes at room temperature. For the first experience, untreated and unstained cells were performed in duplicates, and the other conditions without replicates. For the second experience, all the conditions were performed in duplicates. Finally, in the last experiment, cells treated with siRNA were done in triplicate, and the other conditions in duplicate.

3.4.1.3.2 siRNA (TFS)

siRNA-transfection agent complexes were prepared by incubating different amounts of siRNA (50 and 100 nM) with 1.5µL of the transfection agent. The complexes were left to incubate for 20 minutes at room temperature. Cells treated with siRNA were done in triplicate, while controls (unstained, untreated and treated with transfection agent only) were done in duplicate.

3.4.2 Maraviroc and Antibody testing

Ghost Hi-5 and Caco-2 cells were plated in 6-well plates at 5 x 10⁵ cells/well and incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO2 for 24 hours. Maraviroc (MVC), previously dissolved in DMSO, was added to selected wells to a final concentration of 1 or 10 μ M. All cells were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ for 1 hour, and then detached using 500 μ L of trypsin-EDTA and 1 mL of complete DMEM. The resulting 1.5 mL was transferred to Eppendorf tubes. The cells were then centrifuged at 4 °C, 300 xg, for 7 min (Eppendorf 5417R Refrigerated Centrifuge), the supernatants were discarded, and cells were resuspended in 100 μ L of FACS buffer. Five microliters (0.25 μ g) of the APC-labelled anti-CCR5 antibody were added to selected tubes and all samples were incubated for 45 minutes at 37 °C. Then, cells were washed by centrifugation (300 xg, 4°C, 7 min), resuspended in 200 μ L of FACS buffer and transferred to FACS tubes. The samples were immediately analyzed by FACS using a BD FACSCanto II instrument (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), equipped with three lasers: 405 nm, 488 nm and 633 nm. Upon excitation with the 633 nm laser, stained cells were detected through the APC channel. The results were analyzed using the FlowJo v10.0.7 software.
3.4.3 NPs siRNA (TFS) delivery

Ghost Hi-5 cells were plated in 24-well plates at 1 x 10⁵ cells/well 24 hours before transfection. Two hours before transfection, medium was removed, and cells were washed twice with 500 µL of PBS. Plain medium (i.e., DMEM only) was added to each well. Lyophilized nanoparticles (blank, h-siRNA, h-spermidine 8/1 and spermidine 3/1 NPs) were dispersed in DMEM only, to a concentration of 2 mg/mL. Dissolved nanoparticles were added to cells, at 0.1, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mg/mL, corresponding to 5, 25, 50 and 100 nM of siRNA, respectively, to a final volume of 500 µL. Cells were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO2. Six hours post transfection, medium was removed and 1mL of DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, but without antibiotics, was added. Cells were collected after 72 hours of incubation. The cells were detached using 500 µL of trypsin-EDTA and 1 mL of complete DMEM. The resulting 1.5 mL was transferred to Eppendorf tubes. The cells were then centrifuged at 4 $^{\circ}$ C, 300 xg, for 7 min (Eppendorf 5417R Refrigerated Centrifuge), the supernatants were discarded, and cells were resuspended in 100 µL of FACS buffer. Five microliters (0.25 µg) of the APC-labelled anti-CCR5 antibody were added to selected tubes and all samples were incubated for 45 minutes at 37 \degree C. Then, cells were washed by centrifugation (300 xg, 4°C, 7 min), resuspended in 200 µL of FACS buffer. This washing procedure was repeated up to a total of three washes. Cells were then transferred to FACS tubes. Then, samples were immediately analyzed by FACS using a BD FACSCanto II instrument (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), equipped with three lasers: 405 nm, 488 nm and 633 nm. Upon excitation with the 633 nm laser, stained cells were detected through the APC channel. The results were analyzed using the FlowJo v10.0.7 software.

3.5 Statistical analysis

Results are presented as mean values \pm standard deviation (SD). Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired t tests, unless otherwise stated. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05. Statistical significance was denoted if the p value was lower than 0.05 by * (p<0.05), ** (p<0.01) and *** (p<0.005). All analyses were performed with the GraphPad Prism 7.0 software.

Chapter 3. Materials and Methods

CHAPTER 4

Results and Discussion

4.1. Ghost Hi-5 CCR5 expression

Transfection of Ghost Hi-5 cells with CCR5-specific siRNA was performed as extensively described. Complexes between siRNA and commercial transfection agents were prepared and delivered to cultured cells. CCR5 expression was assessed by FACS.

The population distribution and gating strategy adopted to perform the analysis are shown in **Figure 4.1**. The first panel shows the selection of the viable cells on a Forward Scatter Area (FSC-A) vs. Side Scatter Area (SSC-A) dot plot. The second panel shows the exclusion of cell doublets and aggregates, being only selected the single cells, on a FSC-A vs. Forward Scatter Height (FSC-H) dot plot. Finally, the last panel shows the signal of selected cells detected in the allophycocyanin (APC) channel (633nm). This sequential gating strategy allows the attainment of a more reliable signal, since both debris and dead cells are filtered out, as well as aggregates and doublets, whose signal could lead to misinterpretations.

In **Figure 4.2**, the histograms of the geometric mean of the fluorescence from the APC channel are presented. The first panel shows the histogram referent to a population of single cells, while in the second a comparison between the histograms of two different samples, also of single cells, is shown. In order to assess silencing effect, histograms of each sample were compared to the histograms of controls. Furthermore, the obtained geometric mean fluorescence values for each condition were also compared.



Figure 4.1 Representative population distribution and gates applied in FACS.



Figure 4.2 Geometric mean fluorescence histograms. (A) Fluorescence histogram of a single sample; (B) Comparison between histograms of a sample (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded).

4.1.1 ScreenFect Enhancer transfection

Initially, transfection efficacy using ScreenFect Enhancer as a delivery agent and siRNA (SCB) was tested. Three different siRNA concentrations (1, 10 and 100 nM) and four different time points (6, 12, 24 and 72h) were evaluated. The two first time points were chosen due to CCR5 turnover. In the absence of ligand, this receptor has a constitutive turnover with half-time between 6 and 9 hours [128]. On the other hand, the longer time points are both recurrently referred in literature for CCR5 knockdown [86, 95, 96]. After each time point, cells were collected and incubated with the APC-labeled CCR5 monoclonal antibody. Following incubation, cells were washed once, and then analyzed by flow cytometry. Geometric mean values obtained for each sample are shown in **Figure 4.3**.



ScreenFect Transfection

Figure 4.3 Quantitative expression of CCR5 by Ghost Hi-5 cells at different time points post transfection with ScreenFect Enhancer (n=1).

Although preliminary, the results regarding silencing did not seem to be consistent. For example, at 6 hours, CCR5 expression was lower in cells treated with 100 nM siRNA than in cells incubated with 10 nM siRNA. However, the opposite was observed for cells evaluated 12 hours after the transfection. On the other hand, at 24 hours, there seemed to be a slight decrease in CCR5 expression, for all concentrations tested, whilst at 72 hours there were no apparent changes between the samples and each of the three controls. Interestingly, for each of the time points analyzed, incubation with transfection reagent both alone and complexed with the control siRNA appears to have increased CCR5 expression.

Overall, and despite observing slight decrease in CCR5 expression for some time points and siRNA concentrations, particularly 12 hours post-transfection with 10 nM, and due to lack of replicates, it is impossible to conclude about the potency of the siRNA tested.

In order to assess the reasons for that, five scenarios were evaluated. The first was that the siRNA was not silencing the expression of the receptor properly. Other possibility was that the transfection agent used was not able to intracellularly deliver the siRNA to the cultured cells. Also, it was hypothesized that washing the cells only once after incubation with the antibody might have hindered the correct assessment of the transfection efficacy. Since it has been reported that several monoclonal anti-CCR5 antibodies being commercialized lack specificity [129], other potential issue regarding the assessment of the silencing could be related to the antibody used to quantify the receptor expression levels. Finally, it could be an issue regarding the phenotype of the cell line being used. Ghost Hi-5 cells were genetically modified from Ghost parental cells in order to over-express CCR5. In this case, it is possible that the silencing effect of the transfection could be overruled by the mentioned genetic modification, and a

higher percentage of silencing could not be achieved. However, it has been reported in similar cell lines that substantially stronger silencing of CCR5 is attainable [96]. Based on this, subsequent experiments were made in order to assess the reliability of the three reagents used (siRNA, transfection agent and antibody), as well as the implication of the number of washes following antibody incubation.

4.1.2 Caco-2 cells and Maraviroc

In order to assess the specificity of the antibody to CCR5, a cell line that does not express this receptor, Caco-2, was incubated with the antibody. Although the best control would have been Ghost parental cells, such cell line was not accessible in a timely manner. Furthermore, Ghost Hi-5 cells were also submitted to two different concentrations of maraviroc (MVC). MVC is known to block the interaction between the gp120 HIV protein and CCR5 by binding to the receptor and altering its morphology [130]. In order to be able to compare the data with the previously obtained results, cells were washed only once after incubation with the antibody. Results obtained are shown in **Figure 4.4**.





Figure 4.4 CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 and Caco-2 cells. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). (***) denotes a significant difference at p<0.005.

As clearly shown, the fluorescence values obtained for stained Ghost Hi-5 cells were significantly higher than those obtained for stained Caco-2 cells. This seems to indicate that

the antibody does indeed present binding specificity for CCR5. Moreover, the slight increase observed for Caco-2 cells incubated with the antibody, as compared to the same cells, appears to indicate that non-specific binding is quite low. It is also likely that such small difference is owed to only washing the cells once. Thus, in order to circumvent this issue in posterior experiences, three washes were performed after incubation with the antibody.

Regarding MVC, while there seemed to be a reduction in CCR5 expression, the data, shown in **Figure 4.5**, are not conclusive, particularly accounting for the lack of replicates of MVC treatments.



Figure 4.5 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells after MVC treatment. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). The replicates regard the antibody incubation, not the MVC treatment itself. (*) and (**) denote a significant difference at p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively.

MVC is a small molecule and its binding to CCR5 may not be able to block all sites of the receptor that are recognized by the antibody. The mechanism of action of MVC consists in altering the conformation of CCR5 without inducing its internalization [131]. Mild reduction in CCR5 labeling in MVC-treated cells appears to support that interference with the receptor affects the binding ability of the antibody. However, it is wise to cautiously interpret these

results, since it has been described in literature that MVC does not alter [132] and, in particular conditions, such as in HIV-infected cells, even increases [133] CCR5 levels.

Since the antibody was apparently shown to properly and selectively bind to CCR5, the ability of different transfection agents to deliver the same siRNA (SCB) into Ghost Hi-5 cells and silence CCR5 was then tested. Also, from this point forward, after incubation with the antibody, cells were submitted to three washes rather than one. Moreover, in order to reduce the impact of the background values in the silencing assessment, settings of the data acquiring equipment, namely the voltage used to measure the fluorescence, were modified so that the values of that fluorescence were substantially higher. Since the increase was more pronounced for stained samples and controls than for unstained cells, the impact of background signal was reduced.

4.1.3 Polyethylenimine (PEI)

Polyethylenimine (PEI) has been shown able to mediate gene knockdown through RNAi when used as siRNA-PEI complexes [134, 135]. Two different siRNA concentrations (25 nM and 50 nM), as well as two different N/P ratios (30 and 40) were tested. While a wide range of ratios, ranging from 4 to 100, were analyzed in several contexts, high variability of the tested conditions, such as the molecular weight and the spatial organization of the polyamine (branched or linear) made it difficult to understand what ratios would be more indicated for this experiment. Based on literature that found a N/P ratio of 33 to be close to optimal [135], and in order to facilitate calculations, an approximate ratio of 30 was used. On the other hand, in a different study, the concentrations and quantities of both siRNA and PEI, rather than the N/P ratio, were taken into account [136]. Following this procedure, and calculating the ratio based on the same equations used previously [126], a N/P ratio of 40 was used. Comparisons between untreated and treated cells are presented in **Figures 4.6** and **4.7**.



Figure 4.6 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with PEI at different ratios. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). (*) denotes a significant difference at p<0.05.

Interestingly, and in line with what was observed with the ScreenFect Enhancer transfection reagent, administrating PEI alone to the cells resulted in a considerable increase in CCR5 detection. Significant differences were obtained comparing untreated cells with both N/P ratios tested to deliver the siRNA. However, this difference corresponds to an increase in CCR5 expression, rather than silencing. Despite significance, all values are in the same order of magnitude and are, presumably, biologically irrelevant. Toxicity associated with PEI may also help explaining differences.

Since neither of the tested N/P ratios was able to provide a decrease in CCR5 expression, a higher concentration of siRNA, 50 nM, was further tested. In this case, the N/P ratio used was 40. Data obtained are shown in **Figure 4.7**.



Figure 4.7 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with PEI. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3).

There were no significant differences in the fluorescence levels obtained between each of the tested conditions. At this point, it seemed plausible to assume that siRNA (SCB) delivered through PEI complexation revealed itself not to work properly. In fact, cells transfected did not only shown no traces of silencing, as indeed they appeared to express CCR5 more strongly than untreated cells. Based on this, further clarification regarding the ability of this siRNA to effectively silence CCR5 expression was not attained.

4.1.4 RNAiMAX

Another transfection agent, RNAiMAX, was further tested. RNAiMAX is a commercially available reagent and is one of the most widely used transfecting agents [137]. In a first test, two concentrations of siRNA, without any replicates, were used with this carrier (**Figure 4.8**).



RNAiMAX Transfection

Figure 4.8 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with RNAiMAX. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3 for unstained and stained cells, n=1 for other conditions).

Interestingly, unlike what was observed for previous transfection agents, RNAiMAX alone led to a slight decrease in CCR5 expression, as well as when complexed with the control siRNA. Off-target effects of transfection agents in general have been extensively reported [138-140]. RNAiMAX in particular has been found to increase mRNA levels of interest [141].

More importantly, it appears that siRNA at 25 nM does not lead to silencing effect when compared with the transfection agent alone. However, with 50 nM, there seems to be a slight decrease in the obtained fluorescence. Despite being lower than desired, and expected, according to literature [96], this modest evidence of silencing might indicate that, out of the three transfection agents tested, RNAiMAX is the one that more efficiently delivers the siRNA, thus leading to greater gene knockdown. It also allows the presume that, even if not working completely properly, this siRNA (SCB) may indeed have the ability to knockdown, at least to some extent, CCR5 expression. In order to obtain data to confirm this theory, several transfections using these same reagent and siRNA, at different concentrations, were performed. Data obtained from these transfections are shown in **Figures 4.9** and **4.10**.



Figure 4.9 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with RNAiMAX. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3).

As it is clear, and unlike what was previously apparent for the same transfection agent and siRNA, none of the tested concentrations decreased the level of CCR5 expression. Moreover, there were no significant differences between any of the tested conditions.



RNAIMAX Transfection

Figure 4.10 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with RNAiMAX. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). (*), (**) and (***) denote a significant difference at p<0.05, p<0.01 and p<0.005, respectively.

Interestingly, the control siRNA, but not the transfection agent alone, increased the fluorescence measured when compared to untreated cells, which did not happen in the previous experiments. Moreover, it is important to notice that, for all the three controls, fluorescence values obtained were substantially higher in the latter experiment. This lack of consistency might be due to several factors. Firstly, the Ghost Hi-5 cells used for each of these transfections were at a different passage. Even though they were within the limit for CCR5 over-expression [142], this discrepancy might cause some changes in the receptor levels at the surface. However, a more plausible explanation might be linked to the determination of the target population previously described. The used approach, sequential gating, while having the upsides of being intuitive and simple, is also very susceptible to subjectivity [143], which could help to explain these differences. More importantly, siRNA at 100 nM did cause a significant reduction in CCR5 levels when compared to untreated cells, siRNA at 200 nM and the control siRNA. However, no statistical significance was attained when comparing the effect of RNAiMAX

alone and siRNA at 100 nM, which does not allow to certainly conclude regarding the ability of this siRNA to silence CCR5 expression. The fact that cells treated with 200 nM express significantly more CCR5 than cells treated with 100 nM seems to indicate that the effective ability of this siRNA to silence this receptor, even if not as strong as expected and desired, is higher for 100 nM than for 200 nM.

All these inconsistencies regarding the experiments with this transfection agent could indicate that the siRNA being used was not as potent as desired, or that it was not in proper conditions to effectively silence the expression of CCR5.

4.1.5 siRNA (TFS)

In order to assess whether the siRNA (SCB) used up until this point was indeed faulty, a different commercial siRNA, with a distinct nucleotide sequence, from now on referred to as (TFS), was tested with RNAiMAX, since it was the transfection reagent that apparently yielded the most promising results. Obtained fluorescence values are shown in **Figure 4.11**.



siRNA (TFS) Transfection

Figure 4.11 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post transfection with RNAiMAX. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). (*) and (**) denote a significant difference at p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively.

Both 50 and 100 nM treatments lead to a significant decrease in the fluorescence signal measured, when compared to both untreated cells and cells incubated with RNAiMAX alone. Moreover, there were no significant differences between the two siRNA concentrations tested or between the two control groups (stained cells and cells treated with RNAiMAX alone). Taking into account that this was a first experiment, and that there was no optimization process, the results obtained seem to clearly indicate that this new siRNA, unlike the previous one, silenced the expression of CCR5 in a relatively potent fashion. Further optimizations, particularly regarding incubation time and siRNA concentrations, as well as the possibility of performing a second transfection 24 hours after the initial one, could lead to an even more pronounced silencing of CCR5 expression.

Since the ultimate goal of this work was to incorporate a siRNA able to silence CCR5 in NPs, and study the formulation ability to deliver the siRNA to Ghost Hi-5 cells, and consequently decrease the expression of the receptor, siRNA (TFS) was chosen to be used in the following experiments.

4.2 Production and characterization of NPs

PLGA-PEG-based NPs with different internal aqueous phases (see Chapter 3) were produced by double emulsion solvent evaporation technique. This technique is commonly used for obtaining polymeric NPs for drug delivery application, particularly when incorporation of hydrophilic compounds is desired [144, 145]. In order to achieve higher association of siRNA to the NPs, the siRNA was pre-complexed with polyamines prior to the NPs production, as previously described by Woodrow *et al.* [6]. Data on the characterization of produced NPs are presented in the following.

4.2.1 Size and surface charge

All prepared NP formulations were analyzed by DLS, for the determination of their size (mean hydrodynamic diameter) and polydispersity index (PdI), and by ELS, for the determination of their surface charge (zeta potential). DLS measures particle size through determination of the diffusion coefficient. The Brownian motion of the particles is measured, which, through well established relationships between diffusion speed and size, allows the determination of the hydrodynamic diameter of the particles. On the other hand, when using ELS, the velocity of a charged particle under an applied electric field is used to measure the

charge of the diffuse layer around the particle. This feature is expressed as the zeta potential, which provides an indirect measure of the surface charge [146].

4.2.1.1 Surfactant

PLGA-PEG was selected to be tested for the incorporation of the siRNA, being a copolymer that has been extensively reported as a good carrier for nucleic acids, among other active molecules, due to its good biodegradability and biocompatibility [147-150]. In order to decide whether or not to use poloxamer 407 as a surfactant, blank PLGA-PEG NPs (i.e., without the incorporation of siRNA-polyamine complexes), both with and without the referred surfactant, at a concentration of 0.2% (w/v), were produced and characterized in terms of size and surface charge. Data obtained are shown in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1 Size, polydispersity index and zeta potential values for NP formulations (n=1; SD corresponds to the three measurements performed by DLS for a single sample).

Formulation	Hydrodynamic	Pdl	Zeta potential	
	diameter (nm)		(mV)	
NPs w/o surfactant	203.7 ± 1.3	0.187 ± 0.024	-4.8 ± 0.4	
NPs w/ surfactant	138.0 ± 0.4	0.110 ± 0.009	-4.9 ± 0.5	

An increase in terms of average diameter was observed, while PdI values were higher in NPs produced without stabilizer. Surface charge was virtually the same, indicating that NPs obtained were nearly neutral. Zeta potential values ranging from -5mV to 5mV are broadly considered to be a consequence of dense PEGylation [151].

It has been reported that, in order to overcome mucosal barriers, designing NPs with size similar to that of virus that are able to efficiently overcome those same obstacles represents an attractive approach [152-154]. Thus, NPs with a hydrodynamic size below 200 nm are desired for intravaginal delivery. Even though the NPs without surfactant present an acceptable size in that perspective, the formulation containing poloxamer 407 was selected for further experiments, particularly due to the relatively lower PdI obtained.

4.2.1.2 Low siRNA (SCB) concentration

In parallel with the first siRNA transfections, NPs containing siRNA (SCB) were initially produced. Besides NPs with siRNA alone or complexed with either putrescine or spermidine at

a N/P ratio of 8/1, blank NPs were obtained as a control. For these batches, the amount of siRNA per formulation was 200 pmol. Results obtained are presented in **Table 4.2**.

Formulation	Hydrodynamic diameter (nm)	Pdl	Zeta potential (mV)
Blank NPs	107.6 ± 0.4	0.162 ± 0.010	-4.9 ± 0.3
l-siRNA NPs	116.3 ± 4.7	0.225 ± 0.004	-4.3 ± 0.7
Putrescine 8/1 NPs	95.6 ± 1.1	0.277 ± 0.020	-7.4 ± 1.7
l-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	124.9 ± 2.0	0.119 ± 0.018	-4.4 ± 0.3

Table 4.2 Size, polydispersity index and zeta potential values for NP formulations (n=1;
SD corresponds to the three measurements performed by DLS for a single sample).

Overall, the NPs obtained were similar regarding the three considered parameters. One of the major differences observed is the fact that NPs loaded with siRNA pre-complexed with putrescine appear to be slightly smaller and more negative. However, these differences are likely to be of reduced importance, as they are unlikely to have an impact biologically. Particles loaded with siRNA pre-complexed with spermidine presented the lowest PdI, even when compared with blank NPs. On the other hand, the value obtained for this parameter for both siRNA-putrescine and siRNA-only loaded formulations seem to indicate populations with wider dispersion in terms of size.

4.2.1.3 High siRNA (TFS) concentration

In posterior NPs productions, a higher quantity of siRNA (TFS) (1 nmol) was associated with the NPs. Furthermore, besides the N/P ratio of 8/1, a lower ratio, 3/1, that has also been described in literature to significantly improve siRNA association with polymeric NPs [6], was tested as well. Data obtained for these formulations is synthetized in **Table 4.3**.

Formulation	Hydrodynamic diameter (nm)	Pdl	Zeta potential (mV)	n
Blank NPs	135.0 ± 11.8	0.117 ± 0.022	-5.7 ± 1.2	5
h-siRNA NPs	136.1 ± 7.2	0.110 ± 0.020	-6.5 ± 0.6	5
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	146.2 ± 16.2	0.105 ± 0.027	-5.9 ± 1.2	5
Spermidine 3/1 NPs	157.7 ± 3.2	0.099 ± 0.015	-6.5 ± 0.6	3

Table 4.3 Size, polydispersity index and zeta potential values for NP formulations.

Overall, data seemed to be consistent with what was obtained for previous formulations. The slight increase observed in the particles size could be indicative of successful siRNA incorporation. However, the fact that blank NPs also appear to be larger make this assertation impossible to be concluded. A modest decrease regarding zeta potential of siRNA loaded NPs, when compared with the previously obtained formulations, can be observed. While this could be indicative of a higher amount of siRNA associated, which is very likely, since the amount of siRNA per formulation was five times higher than in the previous experiment, such a slight change is unlikely to be an important factor. Moreover, a similar decrease was observed in blank NPs, which might suggest that the obtained differences are somewhat negligible. Moreover, the different N/P ratios also did not seem to alter the colloidal properties of the particles. In sum, this seems to indicate that the general formulation is robust.

4.2.2 siRNA content

In order to assess the efficacy of the siRNA incorporation, lyophilized NPs were destroyed and the aqueous fraction, containing the siRNA, was extracted and analyzed regarding siRNA content, following a protocol adapted from Woodrow *et al*. [6]. In order to quantify the amount of siRNA extracted, SYBR Gold, a probe that binds to the phosphate backbone of the nucleic acid and has been used to quantify siRNA in NPs formulations, was incubated with the referred aqueous phase, and fluorescence at specific wavelengths was measured.

To establish a correlation between the fluorescence and siRNA concentrations, two sets of standard curves, with known concentrations of siRNA, were obtained. The first set was obtained measuring the fluorescence of siRNA alone, while the second was attained measuring the fluorescence of siRNA in the presence of blank NPs extract. Moreover, the fluorimeter used for the measurements allowed two different methods for fluorescence measuring: EndPoint and

AreaScan. While the first approach results in the output of only the last spot read for each well, the latter reads several spots and provides the average value.

4.2.2.1 Low siRNA (SCB) concentration

Despite the fact that siRNA (SCB) was not effectively silencing the expression of CCR5, it was hypothesized that it could still be detected through fluorescence, since the probe used is generic and binds to the phosphate backbone. This, theoretically, could allow the siRNA to be detected, even if not functional. Since the amount of siRNA incorporated was 200 pmol per formulation, and taking into account the extraction process, the maximum siRNA concentration per sample was 40 nM. Standard curves were obtained based on fluorescence values depicted in **Table 4.4**.

siRNA (nM)							
Control	0	2.5	5	10	20	50	100
EndPoint siRNA	14	13	11	25	29	62	157
EndPoint siRNA+NPs	16	8	15	29	38	101	181
AreaScan siRNA	7	12	12	22	31	62	147
AreaScan siRNA+NPs	14	20	20	30	48	102	176

Table 4.4 Fluorescence values, obtained for each acquisition procedure and control, used to obtain standard curves.

Despite SYBR Gold being regarded as extremely sensitive, to the point of being able to quantify siRNA at 0.5 nM, according to manufacturer indications, it seems clear from the values of fluorescence obtained for the lower siRNA concentrations that this method of quantification is not reliable for concentrations below 10 nM. Furthermore, particularly regarding EndPoint acquisition, fluorescence from 10 and 20 nM are almost indistinguishable. It seems clear, then, that higher concentrations of siRNA must be used in order to attain more reliable standard curves. From the above values, the standard curves presented in Figure 4.12 were obtained.





Figure 4.12 Standard curves obtained correlating fluorescence measured and siRNA concentrations. (A) Standard curve obtained through EndPoint readings of siRNA alone. (B) Standard curve obtained through EndPoint readings of siRNA with NPs extract. (C) Standard curve obtained through AreaScan readings of siRNA alone. (D) Standard curve obtained through AreaScan readings of siRNA with NPs extract.

The equations obtained from each standard curve, which were applied in order to correlate fluorescence values and siRNA concentration, as well as the corresponding values of R², were as follows:

$y = -0.0028 * x^2 + 1.1563 * x - 12.418$	$R^2 = 0.9922$	(Eq. 1)
$y = 0.0004 * x^2 + 0.5001 * x - 3.482$	$R^2 = 0.9945$	(Eq. 2)
$y = -0.0021 * x^2 + 1.05 * x - 9.0478$	$R^2 = 0.9972$	(Eq. 3)
$y = 0.0006 * x^2 + 0.5034 * x - 6.3966$	$R^2 = 0.9993$	(Eq. 4)

Equations (1), (2), (3) and (4) were obtained from the standard curves depicted in **Figure 4.12** (A), (B), (C) and (D), respectively.

For each formulation using siRNA (SCB), ten replicates were evaluated for their siRNA content. The values obtained are presented in **Table 4.5**.

Table 4.5 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaSca	an.
Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=10).	

Formulation	EndPoint	AreaScan	
Blank NPs	15.0 ± 4.7	12.1 ± 2.7	
l-siRNA NPs	13.7 ± 4.3	15.1 ± 2.7	
Putrescine 8/1 NPs	12.0 ± 3.1	12.3 ± 1.1	
l-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	18.1 ± 3.3	19.1 ± 3.6	

Using the mathematic expressions obtained from the standard curves, these fluorescence values were used to calculate the siRNA concentration present in each well. Furthermore, association efficiencies were also calculated based on these data. The obtained values are presented in **Tables 4.6** and **4.7**.

Table 4.6 siRNA concentrations (nM) calculated based on obtained fluorescence values. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=10).

Formulation	EndPoint	EndPoint	AreaScan	AreaScan
	siRNA	siRNA+NPs	siRNA	siRNA+NPs
Blank NPs	4.2 ± 5.0	4.1 ± 2.4	3.3 ± 2.7	-0.2 ± 1.4
l-siRNA NPs	2.9 ± 4.7	3.5 ± 2.2	6.3 ± 2.6	1.4 ± 1.4
Putrescine 8/1 NPs	1.0 ± 3.4	2.6 ± 1.6	3.6 ± 1.1	-0.1 ± 0.6
l-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	7.6 ± 3.5	5.7 ± 1.7	10.2 ± 3.4	3.4 ± 1.9

Chapter 4. Results and Discussion

Formulation	EndPoint	EndPoint	AreaScan	AreaScan
	siRNA	siRNA+NPs	siRNA	siRNA+NPs
Blank NPs	10.6 ± 12.6	10.3 ± 6.0	8.3 ± 6.6	-
l-siRNA NPs	7.1 ± 11.7	8.6 ± 5.5	15.8 ± 6.6	3.4 ± 3.5
Putrescine 8/1 NPs	2.6 ± 8.6	6.5 ± 4.0	8.9 ± 2.7	-
l-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	18.9 ± 8.6	14.3 ± 4.2	25.5 ± 8.6	8.6 ± 4.7

Table 4.7 Association efficiencies (%) calculated based on obtained siRNA concentrations. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=10).

Out of the two reading approaches, AreaScan appears to be more reliable than EndPoint, given the less variability of values obtained for the fluorescence. Moreover, the second standard curve used, which was obtained adding siRNA with extract of blank NPs, also appears to provide more consistent results than using siRNA by itself to establish the standard curve.

From the standard curves, it further seems clear that siRNA concentrations under 10 nM are not quantifiable or even detectable using this technique. Moreover, since the values of fluorescence obtained from the samples are very close or, in some cases, even lower than the background levels, not much can be said regarding these results. However, it appears that values obtained for NPs loaded with siRNA-spermidine, even if low and close to background levels, are consistently higher than those obtained for siRNA-putrescine complexes. In fact, blank and siRNA-putrescine loaded NPs present very similar results. This is also in agreement with the report of Woodrow *et al.* [6]. Therefore, for further experiments, only spermidine was used for producing siRNA-loaded NPs. Regarding association efficiencies, very low values were obtained. Using the more reliable standard curve attained, association efficiency for NPs loaded with siRNA complexed with spermidine presented the higher efficiency, only 8.6%. In order to obtain higher association, as well as to obtain values considerably higher than the background, 1nmol, rather than 200pmol, of siRNA were used per formulation in further experiments.

4.2.2.2 High siRNA (TFS) concentration

When using siRNA (TFS), 1 nmol per formulation was associated with the NPs. Taking into account the extraction and detection processes, the maximum siRNA concentration per sample was 200 nM. The same rationale to correlate the measured fluorescence and siRNA content was used. However, in order to obtain the standard curves, siRNA at 5 nM, rather than 2.5 nM, was the lowest concentration measured. Moreover, since for these experiments the maximum

obtainable siRNA content was 200 nM, the fluorescence value for this concentration was also assessed and used in the attainment of standard curves.

Firstly, three different formulations were obtained: blank NPs, h-siRNA NPs and h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs. Similarly to what was performed in the previous siRNA quantification, standard curves were obtained based on fluorescence values obtained for known siRNA concentration. These are depicted in **Table 4.8**.

Table 4.8 Fluorescence values, obtained for each acquisition procedure and control, used to obtain standard curves.

siRNA (nM)							
Control	0	5	10	20	50	100	200
EndPoint siRNA	6	46	86	168	352	458	659
EndPoint siRNA+NPs	53	146	237	203	385	531	705
AreaScan siRNA	4	47	86	148	292	419	648
AreaScan siRNA+NPs	58	99	146	216	431	526	699

Similarly to what had happened in the previous siRNA quantification, the AreaScan approach provided more consistent results than EndPoint. For instance, with EndPoint, the fluorescence value obtained for siRNA at 20 nM was, for one of the standard curves, lower when compared to siRNA at 10 nM. Fluorescence values measured for each formulation are shown in **Table 4.9**.

Table 4.9 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=10).

Formulation	EndPoint	AreaScan
Blank NPs	37.8 ± 31.5	36.6 ± 13.0
h-siRNA NPs	49.9 ± 18.0	52.0 ± 20.0
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	13.4 ± 3.4	12.9 ± 3.0

Since the values obtained for siRNA-spermidine complexes were incredibly low, even lower than the background, the aqueous phase that was extracted was submitted to an extra round of vortexing and centrifugation. Following the same procedure for siRNA quantification, the results obtained were as follows in **Table 4.10**.

Table 4.10 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan. Formulation marked with "*" refer to samples submitted to two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation during the extraction procedure. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=10).

Formulation	EndPoint	AreaScan
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs*	133.6 ± 52.3	189.4 ± 65.5

Mathematic expressions obtained from the standard curves were used to calculate the siRNA concentration present in each well. The obtained values are presented in **Table 4.11**.

Table 4.11 siRNA concentrations (nM) calculated based on obtained fluorescence values. Formulation marked with "*" refer to samples submitted to two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation during the extraction procedure. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=10).

Formulation	EndPoint siRNA	EndPoint siRNA+NPs	AreaScan siRNA	AreaScan siRNA+NPs
Blank NPs	5.0 ± 1.4	4.0 ± 0.8	3.5 ± 1.5	9.0 ± 1.2
h-siRNA NPs	5.0 ± 1.0	3.3 ± 0.3	5.4 ± 2.7	8.2 ± 1.2
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	4.2 ± 0.0	4.9 ± 0.2	1.0 ± 0.3	11.7 ± 0.4
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs*	12.8 ± 7.3	5.6 ± 4.0	31.7 ± 16.3	11.4 ± 7.4

Comparing the siRNA concentrations obtained with both AreaScan standard curves, it is noted that the standard curve obtained with siRNA and extract of blank particles was not reliable. In fact, when using the mathematic expression obtained from this curve, the concentration obtained for the mean fluorescence of spermidine 8/1 NPs, 12.9, was 11.57 nM. On the other hand, for siRNA NPs, which presented higher fluorescence, more precisely 52.0, the concentration of siRNA obtained was only 8.2 nM. Based on this, the standard curve obtained through AreaScan with siRNA only appeared to be the most reliable in correlating fluorescence values with siRNA concentration, and, ultimately, association efficiencies, which are presented in **Table 4.12**.

Table 4.12 Association efficiencies (%) calculated based on obtained siRNA concentrations. Formulation marked with "*" refer to samples submitted to two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation during the extraction procedure. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=10).

Formulation	EndPoint siRNA	EndPoint siRNA+NPs	AreaScan siRNA	AreaScan siRNA+NPs
Blank NPs	2.5 ± 0.7	2.0 ± 0.4	1.7 ± 0.7	4.5 ± 0.6
h-siRNA NPs	2.5 ± 0.5	1.6 ± 0.1	2.7 ± 1.4	4.1 ± 0.6
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	2.1 ± 0.0	2.4 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.1	5.8 ± 0.2
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs*	6.7 ± 3.7	2.8 ± 2.0	15.8 ± 8.2	5.7 ± 3.7

While the fluorescence values, and corresponding siRNA concentrations, were still lower than pretended, the difference to what was obtained prior to the second round of vortexing and centrifugation was substantial. This appears to indicate that the extraction procedure used until this point was not robust enough. Thus, in the following quantification experiments, two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation, rather than one, were performed.

Given the fact that, unlike siRNA-spermidine loaded NPs, siRNA NPs and blank NPs were not submitted to the extra vortexing and centrifugation, it is not correct to interpreter the obtained data as reliable. However, regarding the measured fluorescence values obtained from the standard curves, and comparing with those obtained in the previous experiment, with siRNA (SCB), it seems safe to conclude that this siRNA, on top of being extremely faulty in terms of function, was also not quantifiable by this method, as was firstly hypothesized.

In order to better understand the effect of an extra round of vortexing and centrifugation, both cases, either one or two rounds, were tested. Besides this modification in the extraction procedure, the attainment of standard curves was also altered. Instead of using either siRNA by itself or siRNA with extract of blank particles, siRNA-spermidine complexes and siRNA-spermidine complexes with extract of blank NPs were used. In **Table 4.13** fluorescence values obtained to obtain standard curves are presented.

siRNA (nM)							
Control	0	5	10	20	50	100	200
EndPoint siRNA-Spermidine	12	63	108	184	338	589	1058
EndPoint siRNA-Spermidine+NPs	22	93	142	256	486	681	836
AreaScan siRNA-Spermidine	7	57	105	192	317	543	1055
AreaScan siRNA-Spermidine+NPs	24	86	135	263	501	710	864

Table 4.13 Fluorescence values, obtained for each acquisition procedure and control, used to obtain standard curves.

As was the case with the previous quantification, the standard curve obtained with NPs extract was not trustworthy. For instance, when using the mathematic expression obtained from this curve, the concentration obtained for blank NPs was 6.8 nM, whether submitted to one or two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation (**Table 4.15**). However, as can be seen in **Table 4.14**, the fluorescence obtained for each cases were not similar (61.6 and 141.2). Based on this, the other standard curve, obtained by AreaScan with siRNA-spermidine only, was taken as more reliable. In this experiment, five replicates were performed for each condition. The fluorescence values obtained are shown in **Table 4.14**.

Table 4.14 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan. Formulations marked with "*" refer to samples submitted to two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation during the extraction procedure. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5).

Formulation	EndPoint	AreaScan
Blank NPs	72.0 ± 25.7	61.6 ± 24.0
h-siRNA NPs	110.0 ± 23.4	122.2 ± 28.1
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	123.6 ± 79.6	117.4 ± 76.8
Blank NPs*	250.6 ± 195.6	141.2 ± 63.7
h-siRNA NPs*	424 ± 163.5	409.4 ± 117.5
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs*	427.2 ± 168.9	305.2 ± 107.7

Similar to what was observed in the previous experiment, there was a significant increase in the fluorescence values obtained, both for NPs loaded with siRNA alone and siRNA complexed with spermidine, submitted to two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation rather than one. This resulted in a 3-fold increase in terms of siRNA concentration. Interestingly, a similar increase was observed in blank NPs. Using the mathematic expressions obtained from the standard curves, the siRNA concentrations present in each well were calculated. The obtained values are presented in **Table 4.15**.

Table 4.15 siRNA concentrations (nM) calculated based on obtained fluorescence values. Formulations marked with "*" refer to samples submitted to two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation during the extraction procedure. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5).

Formulation	EndPoint siRNA	EndPoint siRNA+NPs	AreaScan siRNA	AreaScan siRNA+NPs
Blank NPs	6.0 ± 4.4	6.0 ± 1.2	4.5 ± 4.2	6.8 ± 1.2
h-siRNA NPs	11.9 ± 4.1	4.9 ± 0.4	15.2 ± 5.0	5.3 ± 0.2
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	14.2 ± 14.3	7.1 ± 2.7	14.5 ± 13.8	7.4 ± 3.1
Blank NPs*	36.2 ± 38.7	26.2 ± 38.6	18.7 ± 11.4	6.8 ± 2.3
h-siRNA NPs*	66.0 ± 34.0	51.1 ± 47.2	68.1 ± 22.2	43.4 ± 26.1
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs*	66.6 ± 34.6	52.6 ± 44.0	48.6 ± 19.9	22.9 ± 15.0

Association efficiencies were also calculated, based on the same values. Results are shown in Table 4.16.

Table 4.16 Association efficiencies (%) calculated based on obtained siRNA concentrations. Formulations marked with "*" refer to samples submitted to two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation during the extraction procedure. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5).

Formulation	EndPoint siRNA	EndPoint siRNA+NPs	AreaScan siRNA	AreaScan siRNA+NPs
Blank NPs	3.0 ± 2.2	3.0 ± 0.6	2.3 ± 2.1	3.4 ± 0.6
h-siRNA NPs	5.9 ± 2.0	2.4 ± 0.2	7.6 ± 2.5	2.7 ± 0.1
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	7.1 ± 7.1	3.6 ± 1.3	7.2 ± 6.9	3.7 ± 1.6
Blank NPs*	18.1 ± 19.3	13.1 ± 19.3	9.3 ± 5.7	3.4 ± 1.1
h-siRNA NPs*	33.0 ± 17.0	25.5 ± 23.6	34.1 ± 11.1	21.7 ± 13.1
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs*	33.3 ± 17.3	26.3 ± 22.0	24.3 ± 9.9	11.5 ± 7.5

This experiment lead to the assumption that submitting the aqueous phase to two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation does indeed improve the efficacy of the extraction procedure. However, a similar increase in fluorescence values was observed in blank NPs. Even though these values present considerable fluctuation, while fluorescence values for replicates of both

Chapter 4. Results and Discussion

siRNA and siRNA-spermidine samples are more consistent, it still poses as a drawback for this extraction strategy. Regarding the fluorescence values obtained, and corresponding siRNA concentrations and association efficiencies, spermidine, unlike expected, did not appear to increase the amount of siRNA associated with the NPs.

Finally, a N/P ratio of 3/1 for spermidine was also tested. In this experiment, unlike in the previous, only a fraction of the lyophilized NPs was dissolved. Two standard curves were obtained, both with siRNA-spermidine complexes and extract of blank NPs. The difference between the two curves was the N/P ratio: one curve was obtained with complexes with N/P ratio of 3/1 and other with a ratio of 8/1. Fluorescence values obtained to establish each of these standard curves are shown in **Table 4.17**.

 Table 4.17 Fluorescence values, obtained for each acquisition procedure and control, used to obtain standard curves.

 siRNA (nM)

siRNA (nM) Control	0	5	10	20	50	100	200
EndPoint siRNA-Spermidine 3/1	106	133	130	202	384	698	1082
EndPoint siRNA-Spermidine 8/1	52	88	110	176	326	471	653
AreaScan siRNA-Spermidine 3/1	163	160	144	246	393	716	1279
AreaScan siRNA-Spermidine 8/1	76	104	125	198	399	668	883

Since the fluorescence value for siRNA at 10 nM was lower than what was obtained for siRNA at 5 nM and for no siRNA, the standard curve with a N/P ratio of 3/1 obtained through AreaScan was unreliable. Thus, the other standard curve, obtained through the same approach, was assumed to be the more trustworthy to use in correlating fluorescence with siRNA concentrations. For each of the four formulations, three batches of NPs were produced (A, B and C), and the aqueous phase extracted from each batch was analyzed three times. Fluorescence values are shown in **Table 4.18**.

46

Formulation	EndPoint	AreaScan
Blank NPs A	10.3 ± 3.9	18.0 ± 7.8
Blank NPs B	136.3 ± 14.5	158.7 ± 33.5
Blank NPs C	11.0 ± 2.2	10.3 ± 2.6
h-siRNA NPs A	141.3 ± 60.2	172.3 ± 82.3
h-siRNA NPs B	42.7 ± 13.4	37.7 ± 9.7
h-siRNA NPs C	103.3 ± 27.5	110.7 ± 33.6
Spermidine 3/1 NPs A	42 ± 11.3	50.3 ± 11.8
Spermidine 3/1 NPs B	97.7 ± 56.0	103.3 ± 55.5
Spermidine 3/1 NPs C	37.3 ± 14.4	34.7 ± 11.6
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs A	22.3 ± 9.7	24.7 ± 6.6
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs B	270.7 ± 113.5	224.0 ± 90.7
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs C	147.7 ± 61.8	167.3 ± 80.9

Table 4.18 Fluorescence values obtained for each formulation with EndPoint and AreaScan. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3).

Using the mathematic expressions obtained from the standard curves, both siRNA concentrations and association efficiencies were calculated. The obtained values are presented in Tables 4.19 and 4.20.

Chapter 4. Results and Discussion

Formulation	EndPoint 3/1	EndPoint 8/1	AreaScan 3/1	AreaScan 8/1
Blank NPs	-2.2 ± 7.3	2.3 ± 0.7	-10.8 ± 12.3	6.2 ± 2.6
h-siRNA NPs	3.1 ± 7.3	2.4 ± 3.8	-3.1 ± 13.0	7.8 ± 4.8
Spermidine 3/1 NPs	-1.5 ± 5.3	1.3 ± 0.9	-10.8 ± 7.7	5.6 ± 1.5
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	10.5 ± 17.5	11.5 ± 18.1	2.4 ± 18.9	10.6 ± 7.7

Table 4.19 siRNA concentrations (nM) calculated based on obtained fluorescence values. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=9).

Table 4.20 Association efficiencies (%) calculated based on obtained siRNA concentrations. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3).

Formulation	EndPoint 3/1	EndPoint 8/1	AreaScan 3/1	AreaScan 8/1
Blank NPs	-	1.1 ± 0.4	-	3.1 ± 1.3
h-siRNA NPs	1.5 ± 3.6	1.2 ± 1.9	-	3.9 ± 2.4
Spermidine 3/1 NPs	-	0.7 ± 0.4	-	2.8 ± 0.7
h-Spermidine 8/1 NPs	5.3 ± 8.8	5.7 ± 9.1	1.2 ± 9.4	5.3 ± 3.8

The fact that in this experiment only a fraction of lyophilized NPs was used for the quantification assay renders the obtained data somewhat unreliable. However, a tendency can be detected in the values of fluorescence that two out of three batches (B and C) containing siRNA-spermidine at a N/P ratio of 8/1 appear to, in fact, present a considerable amount of siRNA. In spite of that, the high variability that exists in most of the values obtained, and the low trustworthiness that comes from the standard curves obtained, do not allow for definite and assertive conclusions to be retrieved from this experiment.

Overall, there was no consistency in the quantification results. Even within the same batch, very distinct values of fluorescence were obtained. One possible explanation is the fact that the mass retrieved from each batch after lyophilization was quite variable, likely due to losses during the freeze-drying process. That led to different quantities of siRNA from each formulation being quantified, which represents an additional variable that could exacerbate errors. However, even in the initial experiments, where there were no significant losses of mass during the lyophilization process, consistency was also not achieved, as can be confirmed by the variability of fluorescence values measured. Another major factor that might contribute to this lack of consistent results might be related to the process of extraction of the aqueous phase after dissolving the particles. For instance, when comparing fluorescence values

obtained from aqueous phases submitted to either one or two rounds of vortexing and centrifugation, it can be seen that not only the fluorescence of siRNA-loaded formulations increased, as it also happened for blank NPs. This might indicate that the probe used for siRNA quantification might not have high enough specificity in order to correctly quantify siRNA present in these complex formulations.

In sum, the techniques applied in this work for siRNA extraction and quantification revealed themselves to be unattractive, particularly in the range of concentrations that was used.

4.3 NPs siRNA (TFS) delivery to cultured cells

Each formulation was delivered at four different concentrations to cultured cells, in triplicate. The highest concentration used, 2.0 mg/mL, theoretically corresponds to siRNA at 100 nM. FACS data were treated just like aforementioned. Fluorescence values obtained are summarized in Figure 4.13.



NPs siRNA delivery

Figure 4.13 Quantitative CCR5 expression by Ghost Hi-5 cells 72 hours post incubation with NPs. In this case, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare multiple groups. Results are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). (*), (**) and (***) denote a significant difference at p<0.05, p<0.01 and p<0.005, respectively.

Formulations containing siRNA complexed with spermidine with a N/P ratio of 8/1 significantly decreased the fluorescence measured when compared with siRNA and blank NPs, and untreated cells. On the other hand, spermidine 3/1 NPs significantly silence CCR5 expression when compared to untreated cells and blank NPs, but not siRNA NPs. These appear to not suppress CCR5 expression when compared to both cells treated with blank NPs and untreated cells. Blank NPs effect on CCR5 expression was, just like observed for the transfection agents used previously, somewhat random, since they increase the fluorescence read for cells treated with 1mg/mL, but slightly decrease when given in other concentrations. Moreover, differences in concentration seem to have little to no impact at all in the receptor expression. Interestingly, cells treated with 2 mg/mL appear to express more CCR5 than cells treated with any other concentrations, except for blank NPs.

These data might suggest that both formulations containing siRNA complexed with spermidine, particularly at a N/P ratio of 8/1, are capable of delivering siRNA to cultured Ghost Hi-5 cells, and consequently leading to mild CCR5 silencing, in similar fashion when compared with a traditional, well established and commercial transfection agent. In fact, by comparing the histograms obtained, for the same siRNA concentration, with RNAiMAX and the produced NPs, formulations with siRNA-spermidine complexes at a N/P ratio of 8/1 yielded similar silencing of CCR5, according to statistics provided by the analysis software. These data are shown in **Figures 4.14** and **4.15**.



Figure 4.14 Comparison of geometric mean fluorescence between histograms of samples (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded). (A) CCR5 expression after transfection with commercial transfection agent; (B) CCR5 expression after incubation with Blank NPs; (C) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA NPs; (D) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 8/1 NPs. Incubation time was 72h and siRNA concentration 50 nM for all formulations (1.0mg/mL for NPs formulations). Percentages shown refer to differences in the histograms provided by the analysis software, FlowJo v10.0.7.



Figure 4.15 Comparison of geometric mean fluorescence between histograms of samples (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded). (A) CCR5 expression after transfection with commercial transfection agent; (B) CCR5 expression after incubation with Blank NPs; (C) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA NPs; (D) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (E) CCR5 expression after incubation 100 nM for all formulations (2.0mg/mL for NPs formulations). Percentages shown refer to differences in the histograms provided by the analysis software, FlowJo v10.0.7.

Interestingly, siRNA concentration does not seem to alter spermidine 8/1 NPs ability to reduce CCR5 expression, since all of the four concentrations tested resulted in similar silencing. However, for the other two formulations containing siRNA, the lower concentrations (5 and 25 nM) seem to inhibit the receptor expression in stronger fashion when compared to the higher siRNA concentrations, as can be seen in **Figures 4.16** and **4.17**. Regarding blank NPs, the effect on CCR5 levels is, as expected, extremely negligible and independent of concentration.



Figure 4.16 Comparison of geometric mean fluorescence between histograms of samples (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded). (A) CCR5 expression after incubation with Blank NPs; (B) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA NPs; (C) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (D) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 8/1 NPs. Incubation time was 72h and NPs concentration 0.1mg/mL for all formulations. Percentages shown refer to differences in the histograms provided by the analysis software, FlowJo v10.0.7.



Figure 4.17 Comparison of geometric mean fluorescence between histograms of samples (blue line) and merged controls (red line, shaded). (A) CCR5 expression after incubation with Blank NPs; (B) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA NPs; (C) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 3/1 NPs; (D) CCR5 expression after incubation with siRNA-spermidine 8/1 NPs. Incubation time was 72h and NPs concentration 0.5mg/mL for all formulations. Percentages shown refer to differences in the histograms provided by the analysis software, FlowJo v10.0.7.

Chapter 4. Results and Discussion

These data seem to suggest that when associated within these formulations, this siRNA is capable of silencing the same levels of CCR5 even at lower concentrations than 50 and 100 nM. In order to be able to compare these NPs ability to knockdown this receptor with complexes formed with commercial transfection agents, more studies and optimizations, regarding both carriers, need to be undertaken.
CHAPTER 5

Conclusions and Future Work

In this work, polymeric nanocarriers containing siRNA were developed. These nanoparticles, based on PLGA-PEG copolymer, were designed as a potential delivery system of siRNA with the objective of selectively silencing the expression of cell membrane receptor CCR5.

Firstly, the ability of a commercially available siRNA from SCB to silence the expression of this receptor was assessed. Three different transfection agents were used in these experiments. Although some level of silencing was attained, due to extensive optimization of the process, the expression levels of CCR5 obtained were still much higher than what can be found in literature [96]. With that in mind, a second commercial siRNA from TFS, with a different nucleotide sequence, was also tested regarding its ability to knockdown CCR5. In fact, and despite little to no optimization being done regarding this siRNA, substantially stronger CCR5 silencing was attained. Based on this, it is possible to conclude that the first siRNA tested did not have the ability to properly knockdown this receptor. Moreover, during the development process, it was verified that the monoclonal antibody used in this work to quantify the expression of CCR5 was, unlike others reported in the literature [129], indeed selective towards this receptor.

PLGA-PEG NPs containing the selected siRNA, either alone or pre-complexed with a polyamine (putrescine or spermidine), were successfully obtained through the double emulsion solvent evaporation technique. Colloidal properties of these particles seemed to be mostly unaltered despite the association of the nucleic acid, presenting similar hydrodynamic diameter and zeta potential values. Furthermore, NPs presented low PdI, and thus can be considered relatively monodisperse. Overall, these properties can be considered attractive for reaching HIV-susceptible cells at the mucosa, posterior to penetration through mucosal fluids. Regarding the assessment of siRNA association within the formulation, severe drawbacks, particularly lack of consistency between replicates, hindered the successful determination of siRNA content. Moreover, major difficulties faced regarding the extraction of the aqueous phase after destroying the lyophilized nanoparticles proved to be an issue that needs to be improved. However, despite these handicaps, it was apparent that successful association of

Chapter 5. Conclusions and Future Work

siRNA with the formulation, even if lower than desired, could be observed. Furthermore, the impact of polyamines, namely spermidine, while not completely clarified, appears to be positive, as it seems to increase the signal obtained from the siRNA.

Finally, NPs formulations were incubated with CCR5-positive cultured cells, and seemed to, at least at some concentrations, decrease CCR5 expression. Particularly, formulations containing siRNA complexed with spermidine appear to exert a similar effect on CCR5 expression when compared with the same siRNA delivery through commercial transfection agents.

Overall, siRNA-containing PLGA-PEG-based NPs were successfully and consistently produced and characterized for colloidal properties. Despite the issues regarding siRNA quantification, these formulations present attractive features for potential development of anti-HIV microbicides. However, optimization of several processes, as well as a more reliable quantification method, are required.

Despite the mentioned conclusions of this work, several and important questions are still to be answered. For instance, the process of siRNA transfection into cultured cells utilizing commercial reagents offers room for optimization, namely testing time points other than 72 hours, as well as the possibility of repeating the transfection at 24 hours after the initial one, as reported previously [96]. Tuning these factors might lead to both more consistent outcomes and stronger CCR5 silencing, which would be crucial to better understand and more reliably compare with proposed siRNA delivery approaches. Another important aspect is the analytic technique used to quantify CCR5 expression. While FACS is attractive, mainly due to its simplicity and being a quantitative method, different techniques, such as immunodetection [155] or western blot [156], could also be explored. Furthermore, CCR5 quantification at the transcript, rather than protein, level is also an approach that has been pursued. Particularly, real time quantitative PCR (RT-PCR) is a technique that has been explored regarding this receptor quantification [157, 158], and could represent an interesting approach to be further studied.

Concerning the production of NPs, tuning of some parameters remains to be addressed. For instance, changes in poloxamer 407 concentration, use of different polyamines, other N/P ratios, and modifications regarding both the volume of the internal phase and the amount of siRNA incorporated might be sought in order to improve the obtained formulations, and strengthen their robustness. However, the biggest issue regards the incorporation of siRNA, particularly the attainment of unequivocal evidence that siRNA is indeed associated within the NPs. One interesting avenue worth pursuing might be the analysis of the siRNA-polyamine complexes before incorporation with the NPs, in order to better assess the attainment of the conjugates. In spite of that, the major hurdle to overcome is how to reliably quantify the amount of siRNA present in the nanoparticles suspension. While the commercial kit that was

used in this work did not yield consistent results, there are other options, such as PicoGreen or NanoDrop assays [6, 159], that can be explored.

Finally, several optimizations regarding the NPs incubation with CCR5-positive cells might be pursued. In particular, assessing the impact of higher concentrations, as well as comparing the effect of fresh and lyophilized NPs are important studies that should be included in future testing. Moreover, the safety of these formulations must be assessed, which can be achieved by multiple assays, such as the MTT reduction assay, lactate dehydrogenase leakage assay or the comet assay. Furthermore, interaction between NPs and CCR5 can be studied by microscopy, namely electronic and confocal, in order to assess the uptake of these formulation by the cells. Moreover, moieties that have been shown to specifically target CCR5, such as the D-Ala-Peptide T-Amide (DAPTA) [160], might lead to an increase in NPs uptake, and, subsequently, to stronger silencing effect. Several *in vitro* models relevant to mucosal delivery, such as monolayer models and multilayered cell constructs, could also be used to better mimic *in vivo* scenarios, offering insights regarding the possible behavior in biological context.

The proposed future work will be pivotal in ascertaining the general strategy followed in this work for engineering NPs promoting the silencing of CCR5. In case the proposed siRNAloaded PLGA-PEG-based NPs are proven promising for advancing for further development, additional studies leading to stronger association of the siRNA within the formulation, as well as adequate targeting and posterior *in vivo* studies for assessing mucosal distribution, pharmacokinetics, safety and efficacy may be appropriate to pursue [161]. Conversely, alternative approaches to silence CCR5 expression or rendering this receptor useless for HIV entry in susceptible cells through specific inhibitors, such as maraviroc, may be considered appropriate. Chapter 5. Conclusions and Future Work

References

- 1. Sharma, S., et al., *PLGA-based nanoparticles: A new paradigm in biomedical applications.* TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 2016. **80**: p. 30-40.
- 2. Danhier, F., et al., *PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications*. J Control Release, 2012. **161**(2): p. 505-22.
- 3. das Neves, J., et al., *Nanomedicine in the development of anti-HIV microbicides*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2016. **103**: p. 57-75.
- 4. Harris, J.M., Introduction to Biotechnical and Biomedical Applications of Poly(Ethylene Glycol), in Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Chemistry: Biotechnical and Biomedical Applications, J.M. Harris, Editor. 1992, Springer US: Boston, MA. p. 1-14.
- 5. das Neves, J., M. Amiji, and B. Sarmento, *Mucoadhesive nanosystems for vaginal microbicide development: friend or foe?* Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol, 2011. **3**(4): p. 389-99.
- 6. Woodrow, K.A., et al., Intravaginal gene silencing using biodegradable polymer nanoparticles densely loaded with small-interfering RNA. Nat Mater, 2009. **8**(6): p. 526-33.
- 7. UNAIDS. AIDS data. UNAIDS: Geneva, Switzerland, 2017.
- 8. De Cock, K.M., H.W. Jaffe, and J.W. Curran, *The evolving epidemiology of HIV/AIDS*. AIDS, 2012. **26**(10): p. 1205-1213.
- 9. Burnett, J.C., J.A. Zaia, and J.J. Rossi, *Creating genetic resistance to HIV*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2012. **24**(5): p. 625-32.
- 10. Teeraananchai, S., et al., *Life expectancy of HIV-positive people after starting combination antiretroviral therapy: a meta-analysis.* HIV Medicine, 2017. **18**(4): p. 256-266.
- 11. Cohen, M.S., et al., Antiretroviral Therapy for the Prevention of HIV-1 Transmission. N Engl J Med, 2016. **375**(9): p. 830-9.
- 12. Nath, A. and N. Sacktor, Influence of highly active antiretroviral therapy on persistence of HIV in the central nervous system. Current Opinion in Neurology, 2006. **19**(4): p. 358-361.
- 13. Volberding, P.A. and S.G. Deeks, Antiretroviral therapy and management of HIV infection. The Lancet, 2010. **376**(9734): p. 49-62.

- 14. Decloedt, E.H. and G. Maartens, *Neuronal toxicity of efavirenz: a systematic review*. Expert Opin Drug Saf, 2013. **12**(6): p. 841-6.
- 15. Krishnaratne, S., et al., Interventions to strengthen the HIV prevention cascade: a systematic review of reviews. Lancet HIV, 2016. **3**(7): p. e307-17.
- 16. Sarkar, N.N., *Barriers to condom use*. Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care, 2008. **13**(2): p. 114-22.
- 17. Sanchez, J., et al., *Male circumcision and risk of HIV acquisition among MSM*. Aids, 2011. **25**(4): p. 519-23.
- 18. Wawer, M.J., et al., Circumcision in HIV-infected men and its effect on HIV transmission to female partners in Rakai, Uganda: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 2009. **374**(9685): p. 229-37.
- 19. Tetteh, R.A., et al., *Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV Prevention: Safety Concerns.* Drug Saf, 2017. **40**(4): p. 273-283.
- 20. Cutler, B. and J. Justman, Vaginal microbicides and the prevention of HIV transmission. Lancet Infect Dis, 2008. 8(11): p. 685-97.
- 21. Sarmento, B. and J.d. Neves, *Nanosystem formulations for rectal microbicides: a call for more research*. Therapeutic Delivery, 2012. **3**(1): p. 1-4.
- 22. Feldblum, P.J., et al., SAVVY vaginal gel (C31G) for prevention of HIV infection: a randomized controlled trial in Nigeria. PLoS One, 2008. **3**(1): p. e1474.
- 23. Smith-McCune, K., et al., Unexpected Inflammatory Effects of Intravaginal Gels (Universal Placebo Gel and Nonoxynol-9) on the Upper Female Reproductive Tract: A Randomized Crossover Study. PLoS One, 2015. **10**(7): p. e0129769.
- 24. Wilkinson, D., et al., Nonoxynol-9 spermicide for prevention of vaginally acquired HIV and other sexually transmitted infections: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials including more than 5000 women. Lancet Infect Dis, 2002. **2**(10): p. 613-7.
- 25. Obiero, J., P.G. Mwethera, and C.S. Wiysonge, *Topical microbicides for prevention of sexually transmitted infections*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2012(6): p. Cd007961.
- 26. Neff, C.P., et al., A topical microbicide gel formulation of CCR5 antagonist maraviroc prevents HIV-1 vaginal transmission in humanized RAG-hu mice. PLoS One, 2011. 6(6): p. e20209.
- 27. Dumond, J.B., et al., *Maraviroc concentrates in the cervicovaginal fluid and vaginal tissue of HIV-negative women*. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 2009. **51**(5): p. 546-53.
- 28. Veazey, R.S., et al., Protection of rhesus macaques from vaginal infection by vaginally delivered maraviroc, an inhibitor of HIV-1 entry via the CCR5 co-receptor. J Infect Dis, 2010. **202**(5): p. 739-44.
- 29. Malcolm, R.K., et al., *Pharmacokinetics and efficacy of a vaginally administered maraviroc gel in rhesus macaques.* J Antimicrob Chemother, 2013. **68**(3): p. 678-83.
- 30. Fletcher, P., et al., Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection by the candidate microbicide dapivirine, a nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2009. **53**(2): p. 487-95.

- 31. Nel, A.M., et al., *Pharmacokinetic assessment of dapivirine vaginal microbicide gel in healthy*, *HIV-negative women*. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses, 2010. **26**(11): p. 1181-90.
- 32. Nuttall, J.P., et al., Concentrations of dapivirine in the rhesus macaque and rabbit following once daily intravaginal administration of a gel formulation of [14C]dapivirine for 7 days. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2008. **52**(3): p. 909-14.
- 33. Nuttall, J., et al., *Pharmacokinetics of tenofovir following intravaginal and intrarectal administration of tenofovir gel to rhesus macaques*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2012. **56**(1): p. 103-9.
- 34. Dobard, C., et al., Durable protection from vaginal simian-human immunodeficiency virus infection in macaques by tenofovir gel and its relationship to drug levels in tissue. J Virol, 2012. **86**(2): p. 718-25.
- 35. Gombos, R.B., et al., Inhibitory Effect of Individual or Combinations of Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies and Antiviral Reagents against Cell-Free and Cell-to-Cell HIV-1 Transmission. J Virol, 2015. **89**(15): p. 7813-28.
- 36. Braibant, M. and F. Barin, The role of neutralizing antibodies in prevention of HIV-1 infection: what can we learn from the mother-to-child transmission context? Retrovirology, 2013. **10**: p. 103.
- 37. Pantophlet, R. and D.R. Burton, *GP120: Target for Neutralizing HIV-1 Antibodies*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2006. **24**(1): p. 739-769.
- 38. Veazey, R.S., et al., Prevention of virus transmission to macaque monkeys by a vaginally applied monoclonal antibody to HIV-1 gp120. Nat Med, 2003. 9(3): p. 343-6.
- 39. Wei, X., et al., Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. Nature, 2003. 422: p. 307.
- 40. Notario-Pérez, F., R. Ruiz-Caro, and M.-D. Veiga-Ochoa, *Historical development of* vaginal microbicides to prevent sexual transmission of HIV in women: from past failures to future hopes. Drug Design, Development and Therapy, 2017. **11**: p. 1767-1787.
- 41. Mamo, T., et al., *Emerging nanotechnology approaches for HIV/AIDS treatment and prevention*. Nanomedicine, 2010. **5**(2): p. 269-285.
- 42. Adesina, S.K. and E.O. Akala, *Nanotechnology Approaches for the Delivery of Exogenous siRNA for HIV Therapy*. Mol Pharm, 2015. **12**(12): p. 4175-87.
- 43. Draz, M.S., et al., Nanoparticle-mediated systemic delivery of siRNA for treatment of cancers and viral infections. Theranostics, 2014. 4(9): p. 872-92.
- 44. Mishra, V., P. Kesharwani, and N.K. Jain, siRNA nanotherapeutics: a Trojan horse approach against HIV. Drug Discov Today, 2014. **19**(12): p. 1913-20.
- 45. Liao, H.-K., et al., Use of the CRISPR/Cas9 system as an intracellular defense against HIV-1 infection in human cells. Nature Communications, 2015. 6: p. 6413.
- 46. Ebina, H., et al., *Harnessing the CRISPR/Cas9 system to disrupt latent HIV-1 provirus*. Scientific Reports, 2013. **3**: p. 2510.

- 47. Bobbin, M.L., J.C. Burnett, and J.J. Rossi, *RNA interference approaches for treatment of HIV-1 infection*. Genome Medicine, 2015. **7**(1): p. 50.
- 48. Swamy, M.N., H. Wu, and P. Shankar, *Recent advances in RNAi-based strategies for therapy and prevention of HIV-1/AIDS*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2016. **103**: p. 174-86.
- 49. Scarborough, R.J. and A. Gatignol, *RNA Interference Therapies for an HIV-1 Functional Cure*. Viruses, 2017. **10**(1).
- 50. Rao, D.D., et al., *siRNA* vs. *shRNA*: *Similarities and differences*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2009. **61**(9): p. 746-759.
- 51. Ensign, L.M., R. Cone, and J. Hanes, *Nanoparticle-based drug delivery to the vagina: a review*. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society, 2014. **0**: p. 500-514.
- 52. Gao, K. and L. Huang, *Non-viral Methods for siRNA Delivery*. Molecular pharmaceutics, 2009. **6**(3): p. 651-658.
- 53. Wang, J., et al., *Delivery of siRNA Therapeutics: Barriers and Carriers*. The AAPS Journal, 2010. **12**(4): p. 492-503.
- 54. Gorry, P.R. and P. Ancuta, *Coreceptors and HIV-1 pathogenesis*. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep, 2011. 8(1): p. 45-53.
- 55. Purcell, D.F. and M.A. Martin, Alternative splicing of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mRNA modulates viral protein expression, replication, and infectivity. Journal of Virology, 1993. **67**(11): p. 6365-6378.
- 56. Najera, I., M. Krieg, and J. Karn, Synergistic stimulation of HIV-1 rev-dependent export of unspliced mRNA to the cytoplasm by hnRNP A1. J Mol Biol, 1999. **285**(5): p. 1951-64.
- 57. Subramanya, S., et al., RNA interference-based therapeutics for human immunodeficiency virus HIV-1 treatment: synthetic siRNA or vector-based shRNA? Expert opinion on biological therapy, 2010. **10**(2): p. 201-213.
- 58. Taxman, D.J., et al., Short Hairpin RNA (shRNA): Design, Delivery, and Assessment of Gene Knockdown, in RNA Therapeutics: Function, Design, and Delivery, M. Sioud, Editor. 2010, Humana Press: Totowa, NJ. p. 139-156.
- 59. Choi, J.-G., et al., *Multiplexing Seven miRNA-Based shRNAs to Suppress HIV Replication*. Molecular Therapy, 2015. **23**(2): p. 310-320.
- 60. McBride, J.L., et al., Artificial miRNAs mitigate shRNA-mediated toxicity in the brain: implications for the therapeutic development of RNAi. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(15): p. 5868-73.
- 61. Fellmann, C., et al., *An Optimized microRNA Backbone for Effective Single-Copy RNAi*. Cell Reports, 2013. **5**(6): p. 1704-1713.
- 62. Lam, J.K.W., et al., *siRNA Versus miRNA as Therapeutics for Gene Silencing*. Molecular Therapy Nucleic Acids, 2015. 4: p. e252.
- 63. Umbach, J.L. and B.R. Cullen, *The role of RNAi and microRNAs in animal virus replication and antiviral immunity*. Genes Dev, 2009. **23**(10): p. 1151-64.

- 64. Plaisance-Bonstaff, K. and R. Renne, *Viral miRNAs*. Methods Mol Biol, 2011. **721**: p. 43-66.
- Swaminathan, G., S. Navas-Martín, and J. Martín-García, MicroRNAs and HIV-1 Infection: Antiviral Activities and Beyond. Journal of Molecular Biology, 2014. 426(6): p. 1178-1197.
- 66. Aguado, L.C. and B. tenOever, RNA virus building blocks-miRNAs not included. 2018. 14(5): p. e1006963.
- 67. Cullen, B.R., *Five questions about viruses and microRNAs*. PLoS Pathog, 2010. **6**(2): p. e1000787.
- 68. Feinberg, M.B., D. Baltimore, and A.D. Frankel, *The role of Tat in the human immunodeficiency virus life cycle indicates a primary effect on transcriptional elongation*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1991. **88**(9): p. 4045-4049.
- 69. Bennasser, Y., et al., *Evidence that HIV-1 Encodes an siRNA and a Suppressor of RNA Silencing*. Immunity, 2005. **22**(5): p. 607-619.
- 70. DiGiusto, D.L., et al., RNA-based gene therapy for HIV with lentiviral vector-modified CD34(+) cells in patients undergoing transplantation for AIDS-related lymphoma. Sci Transl Med, 2010. **2**(36): p. 36ra43.
- 71. Spanevello, F., et al., Development of Lentiviral Vectors Simultaneously Expressing Multiple siRNAs Against CCR5, vif and tat/rev Genes for an HIV-1 Gene Therapy Approach. Molecular Therapy - Nucleic Acids, 2016. **5**: p. e312.
- 72. Boden, D., et al., Enhanced gene silencing of HIV-1 specific siRNA using microRNA designed hairpins. Nucleic Acids Res, 2004. **32**(3): p. 1154-8.
- 73. Arrildt, K.T., S.B. Joseph, and R. Swanstrom, *The HIV-1 env protein: a coat of many colors*. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep, 2012. **9**(1): p. 52-63.
- 74. Park, W.S., et al., Specific HIV-1 env gene silencing by small interfering RNAs in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Gene Ther, 2003. **10**(24): p. 2046-50.
- 75. Hayafune, M., et al., Silencing of HIV-1 gene expression by two types of siRNA expression systems. Antivir Chem Chemother, 2006. **17**(5): p. 241-9.
- 76. Freed, E.O., HIV-1 Gag Proteins: Diverse Functions in the Virus Life Cycle. Virology, 1998. 251(1): p. 1-15.
- 77. Scarborough, R.J., et al., Effective inhibition of HIV-1 production by short hairpin RNAs and small interfering RNAs targeting a highly conserved site in HIV-1 Gag RNA is optimized by evaluating alternative length formats. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2015. **59**(9): p. 5297-305.
- 78. Capodici, J., K. Kariko, and D. Weissman, Inhibition of HIV-1 infection by small interfering RNA-mediated RNA interference. J Immunol, 2002. **169**(9): p. 5196-201.
- 79. Sloan, R.D., et al., Expression of Nef from unintegrated HIV-1 DNA downregulates cell surface CXCR4 and CCR5 on T-lymphocytes. Retrovirology, 2010. 7: p. 44.

- 80. Das, A.T., et al., Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escapes from RNA interference-mediated inhibition. J Virol, 2004. **78**(5): p. 2601-5.
- 81. Malim, M.H., et al., The HIV-1 rev trans-activator acts through a structured target sequence to activate nuclear export of unspliced viral mRNA. Nature, 1989. **338**: p. 254.
- 82. Lee, N.S., et al., *Expression of small interfering RNAs targeted against HIV-1 rev transcripts in human cells*. Nature Biotechnology, 2002. **20**: p. 500.
- 83. ter Brake, O., et al., Silencing of HIV-1 with RNA Interference: a Multiple shRNA Approach. Molecular Therapy, 2006. 14(6): p. 883-892.
- 84. Lee, S.K., et al., Lentiviral delivery of short hairpin RNAs protects CD4 T cells from multiple clades and primary isolates of HIV. Blood, 2005. **106**(3): p. 818-26.
- 85. Novina, C.D., et al., *siRNA-directed inhibition of HIV-1 infection*. Nat Med, 2002. **8**(7): p. 681-6.
- 86. Eszterhas, S.K., et al., Nanoparticles containing siRNA to silence CD4 and CCR5 reduce expression of these receptors and inhibit HIV-1 infection in human female reproductive tract tissue explants. Infect Dis Rep, 2011. 3(2): p. e11.
- 87. Liu, Z., et al., *siRNA delivery into human T cells and primary cells with carbonnanotube transporters*. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 2007. **46**(12): p. 2023-7.
- 88. Anderson, J., et al., *Potent Suppression of HIV Type 1 Infection By a Short Hairpin Anti-CXCR4 siRNA*. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses, 2003. **19**(8): p. 699-706.
- 89. Nagasawa, T., et al., Defects of B-cell lymphopoiesis and bone-marrow myelopoiesis in mice lacking the CXC chemokine PBSF/SDF-1. Nature, 1996. **382**(6592): p. 635-8.
- 90. Kiem, H.P., et al., *Hematopoietic-stem-cell-based gene therapy for HIV disease*. Cell Stem Cell, 2012. **10**(2): p. 137-47.
- 91. Vicenzi, E., P. Lio, and G. Poli, *The puzzling role of CXCR4 in human immunodeficiency virus infection*. Theranostics, 2013. **3**(1): p. 18-25.
- 92. Blanpain, C., et al., CCR5 and HIV infection. Receptors Channels, 2002. 8(1): p. 19-31.
- 93. Lopalco, L., CCR5: From Natural Resistance to a New Anti-HIV Strategy. Viruses, 2010.
 2(2): p. 574-600.
- 94. Glazkova, D.V., et al., Downregulation of human CCR5 gene expression with artificial microRNAs. Molecular Biology, 2013. **47**(3): p. 419-428.
- 95. Herrera-Carrillo, E. and B. Berkhout, *Novel AgoshRNA molecules for silencing of the CCR5 co-receptor for HIV-1 infection*. PLOS ONE, 2017. **12**(5): p. e0177935.
- 96. Anderson, J. and R. Akkina, Complete knockdown of CCR5 by lentiviral vectorexpressed siRNAs and protection of transgenic macrophages against HIV-1 infection. Gene Therapy, 2007. 14: p. 1287.
- 97. An, D.S., et al., Stable reduction of CCR5 by RNAi through hematopoietic stem cell transplant in non-human primates. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2007. 104(32): p. 13110-13115.

- 98. Kim, S.S., et al., *RNAi-mediated CCR5 silencing by LFA-1-targeted nanoparticles prevents HIV infection in BLT mice*. Mol Ther, 2010. **18**(2): p. 370-6.
- 99. Kumar, P., et al., T Cell-Specific siRNA Delivery Suppresses HIV-1 Infection in Humanized Mice. Cell, 2008. 134(4): p. 577-586.
- 100. Peer, D., et al., Selective gene silencing in activated leukocytes by targeting siRNAs to the integrin lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(10): p. 4095-100.
- 101. Anderson, J., A. Banerjea, and R. Akkina, *Bispecific short hairpin siRNA constructs targeted to CD4*, *CXCR4*, *and CCR5 confer HIV-1 resistance*. Oligonucleotides, 2003. **13**(5): p. 303-12.
- 102. Li, S.-D. and L. Huang, *Non-viral is superior to viral gene delivery*. Journal of Controlled Release, 2007. **123**(3): p. 181-183.
- 103. Morris, K.V. and J.J. Rossi, Lentiviral-mediated delivery of siRNAs for antiviral therapy. Gene Ther, 2006. 13(6): p. 553-8.
- 104. Li, M.-J., et al., Inhibition of HIV-1 infection by lentiviral vectors expressing pol IIIpromoted anti-HIV RNAs. Molecular Therapy, 2003. 8(2): p. 196-206.
- 105. Shen, C. and S.N. Reske, *Adenovirus-delivered siRNA*. Methods Mol Biol, 2004. **252**: p. 523-32.
- 106. Shen, C., et al., *Gene silencing by adenovirus-delivered siRNA*. FEBS Letters, 2003. **539**(1-3): p. 111-114.
- 107. Davidson, B.L. and P.B. McCray Jr, *Current prospects for RNA interference-based therapies*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2011. **12**: p. 329.
- 108. Zhao, L.-J., H. Jian, and H. Zhu, Specific gene inhibition by adenovirus-mediated expression of small interfering RNA. Gene, 2003. **316**: p. 137-141.
- 109. Barton, G.M. and R. Medzhitov, *Retroviral delivery of small interfering RNA into primary cells*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2002. **99**(23): p. 14943-14945.
- 110. Tomar, R.S., H. Matta, and P.M. Chaudhary, Use of adeno-associated viral vector for delivery of small interfering RNA. Oncogene, 2003. 22(36): p. 5712-5.
- 111. von Eije, K.J. and B. Berkhout, *RNA-interference-based gene therapy approaches to HIV type-1 treatment: tackling the hurdles from bench to bedside*. Antivir Chem Chemother, 2009. **19**(6): p. 221-33.
- 112. Kanasty, R., et al., *Delivery materials for siRNA therapeutics*. Nature Materials, 2013. **12**: p. 967.
- 113. Palliser, D., et al., An siRNA-based microbicide protects mice from lethal herpes simplex virus 2 infection. Nature, 2006. **439**(7072): p. 89-94.
- 114. Wu, Y., et al., Durable protection from Herpes Simplex Virus-2 transmission following intravaginal application of siRNAs targeting both a viral and host gene. Cell Host Microbe, 2009. 5(1): p. 84-94.

- 115. Steinbach, J.M., et al., *Polymer nanoparticles encapsulating siRNA for treatment of HSV-2 genital infection*. J Control Release, 2012. **162**(1): p. 102-10.
- 116. Yu, T., et al., Biodegradable mucus-penetrating nanoparticles composed of diblock copolymers of polyethylene glycol and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid). Drug Deliv Transl Res, 2012. **2**(2).
- 117. Olmsted, S.S., et al., *Diffusion of macromolecules and virus-like particles in human cervical mucus*. Biophys J, 2001. **81**(4): p. 1930-7.
- 118. Cun, D., et al., Preparation and characterization of poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles for siRNA delivery. Int J Pharm, 2010. **390**(1): p. 70-5.
- 119. Cun, D., et al., High loading efficiency and sustained release of siRNA encapsulated in *PLGA nanoparticles: quality by design optimization and characterization*. Eur J Pharm Biopharm, 2011. **77**(1): p. 26-35.
- 120. Cu, Y. and W.M. Saltzman, Controlled surface modification with poly(ethylene)glycol enhances diffusion of PLGA nanoparticles in human cervical mucus. Mol Pharm, 2009.
 6(1): p. 173-81.
- 121. Yang, S., et al., Advancements in the field of intravaginal siRNA delivery. J Control Release, 2013. 167(1): p. 29-39.
- 122. Patil, Y. and J. Panyam, *Polymeric nanoparticles for siRNA delivery and gene silencing*. Int J Pharm, 2009. **367**(1-2): p. 195-203.
- 123. Lai, S.K., Y.Y. Wang, and J. Hanes, *Mucus-penetrating nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to mucosal tissues*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2009. **61**(2): p. 158-71.
- 124. Chan, C.L., et al., Endosomal escape and transfection efficiency of PEGylated cationic liposome-DNA complexes prepared with an acid-labile PEG-lipid. Biomaterials, 2012.
 33(19): p. 4928-35.
- 125. Ball, C. and K.A. Woodrow, *Electrospun solid dispersions of Maraviroc for rapid intravaginal preexposure prophylaxis of HIV*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2014. **58**(8): p. 4855-65.
- 126. Grayson, A.C., A.M. Doody, and D. Putnam, *Biophysical and structural characterization* of polyethylenimine-mediated siRNA delivery in vitro. Pharm Res, 2006. 23(8): p. 1868-76.
- 127. Nolte, A., et al., Optimized basic conditions are essential for successful siRNA transfection into primary endothelial cells. Oligonucleotides, 2009. **19**(2): p. 141-50.
- 128. Signoret, N., et al., *Endocytosis and recycling of the HIV coreceptor CCR5*. J Cell Biol, 2000. **151**(6): p. 1281-94.
- 129. Bernstone, L., B. van Wilgenburg, and W. James, Several commercially available anti-CCR5 monoclonal antibodies lack specificity and should be used with caution. Hybridoma (Larchmt), 2012. **31**(1): p. 7-19.
- 130. Roche, M., et al., *HIV-1* escape from the CCR5 antagonist maraviroc associated with an altered and less-efficient mechanism of gp120-CCR5 engagement that attenuates macrophage tropism. J Virol, 2011. **85**(9): p. 4330-42.

- 131. Dorr, P., et al., Maraviroc (UK-427,857), a potent, orally bioavailable, and selective small-molecule inhibitor of chemokine receptor CCR5 with broad-spectrum antihuman immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2005. **49**(11): p. 4721-32.
- 132. López-Huertas, M.R., et al., *The CCR5-antagonist Maraviroc reverses HIV-1 latency in vitro alone or in combination with the PKC-agonist Bryostatin-1*. Scientific Reports, 2017. **7**(1): p. 2385.
- 133. Arberas, H., et al., *In vitro effects of the CCR5 inhibitor maraviroc on human T cell function*. J Antimicrob Chemother, 2013. **68**(3): p. 577-86.
- 134. Hobel, S. and A. Aigner, *Polyethylenimine (PEI)/siRNA-mediated gene knockdown in vitro and in vivo*. Methods Mol Biol, 2010. **623**: p. 283-97.
- 135. Werth, S., et al., A low molecular weight fraction of polyethylenimine (PEI) displays increased transfection efficiency of DNA and siRNA in fresh or lyophilized complexes. Journal of Controlled Release, 2006. **112**(2): p. 257-270.
- 136. Wirth, M., et al., A simple and cost-effective method to transfect small interfering RNAs into pancreatic cancer cell lines using polyethylenimine. Pancreas, 2011. **40**(1): p. 144-50.
- 137. Nakamura, T., et al., *Small-sized*, *stable lipid nanoparticle for the efficient delivery of siRNA to human immune cell lines*. Scientific Reports, 2016. **6**: p. 37849.
- 138. Yoo, J.W., et al., Inflammatory cytokine induction by siRNAs is cell type- and transfection reagent-specific. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2006. **347**(4): p. 1053-8.
- 139. Lacaze, P., et al., Combined genome-wide expression profiling and targeted RNA interference in primary mouse macrophages reveals perturbation of transcriptional networks associated with interferon signalling. BMC Genomics, 2009. **10**: p. 372.
- 140. Tagami, T., et al., Global gene expression profiling in cultured cells is strongly influenced by treatment with siRNA-cationic liposome complexes. Pharm Res, 2008. 25(11): p. 2497-504.
- Jensen, K., J.A. Anderson, and E.J. Glass, Comparison of small interfering RNA (siRNA) delivery into bovine monocyte-derived macrophages by transfection and electroporation. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 2014. 158(3-4): p. 224-32.
- 142. GHOST (3) CCR5+ Cells (Hi-5): NIH Aids Reagent Program. 2018.
- 143. Lugli, E., M. Roederer, and A. Cossarizza, *Data analysis in flow cytometry: the future just started*. Cytometry A, 2010. **77**(7): p. 705-13.
- 144. Cohen-Sela, E., et al., A new double emulsion solvent diffusion technique for encapsulating hydrophilic molecules in PLGA nanoparticles. J Control Release, 2009.
 133(2): p. 90-5.
- 145. Ben David-Naim, M., et al., Polymeric nanoparticles of siRNA prepared by a doubleemulsion solvent-diffusion technique: Physicochemical properties, toxicity, biodistribution and efficacy in a mammary carcinoma mice model. Biomaterials, 2017. 145: p. 154-167.
- 146. Zetasizer Nano Series User Manual. . Worcestershire, UK: Malvern Instruments Ltd., 2013.

- 147. Cho, E.J., et al., Nanoparticle Characterization: State of the Art, Challenges, and Emerging Technologies. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 2013. 10(6): p. 2093-2110.
- 148. Shive, M.S. and J.M. Anderson, *Biodegradation and biocompatibility of PLA and PLGA microspheres*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 1997. **28**(1): p. 5-24.
- 149. Zhang, K., et al., *PEG-PLGA copolymers: their structure and structure-influenced drug delivery applications.* J Control Release, 2014. **183**: p. 77-86.
- 150. Gholizadeh, S., et al., *PLGA-PEG nanoparticles for targeted delivery of the mTOR/PI3kinase inhibitor dactolisib to inflamed endothelium*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2018. **548**(2): p. 747-758.
- 151. Yang, M., et al., *Biodegradable nanoparticles composed entirely of safe materials that rapidly penetrate human mucus*. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 2011. **50**(11): p. 2597-600.
- 152. Cone, R.A., Barrier properties of mucus. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2009. 61(2): p. 75-85.
- 153. Lai, S.K., et al., *Rapid transport of large polymeric nanoparticles in fresh undiluted human mucus.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2007. **104**(5): p. 1482-1487.
- 154. Vanić, Ž. and N. Škalko-Basnet, *Nanopharmaceuticals for improved topical vaginal therapy: Can they deliver?* European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2013. **50**(1): p. 29-41.
- 155. Percherancier, Y., et al., *HIV-1 entry into T-cells is not dependent on CD4 and CCR5 localization to sphingolipid-enriched, detergent-resistant, raft membrane domains.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(5): p. 3153-61.
- 156. Percherancier, Y., et al., *Palmitoylation-dependent control of degradation, life span, and membrane expression of the CCR5 receptor.* J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(34): p. 31936-44.
- 157. Jedrzejczak, P., et al., Quantitative analysis of CCR5 chemokine receptor and cytochrome P450 aromatase transcripts in swim-up spermatozoa isolated from fertile and infertile men. Arch Androl, 2006. **52**(5): p. 335-41.
- 158. Lai, J.P., et al., *Quantification of CCR5 mRNA in human lymphocytes and macrophages* by real-time reverse transcriptase PCR assay. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol, 2003. **10**(6): p. 1123-8.
- 159. Nabzdyk, C.S., et al., Gene silencing in human aortic smooth muscle cells induced by PEI-siRNA complexes released from dip-coated electrospun poly(ethylene terephthalate) grafts. Biomaterials, 2014. **35**(9): p. 3071-3079.
- 160. Ruff, M.R., et al., Update on D-ala-peptide T-amide (DAPTA): a viral entry inhibitor that blocks CCR5 chemokine receptors. Curr HIV Res, 2003. 1(1): p. 51-67.
- 161. das Neves J, S.B., editors, *Drug Delivery and Development of Anti-HIV Microbicides*. Singapore: Pan Stanford, 2014.